
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

                                                                              
 
 
 
 

MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
Thursday, June 4, 2015 – 3:00 p.m. 

Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom – M2-01 
 

Table of Contents 
 
 

 
(1) Agenda        Pages 2-3   
    
(2) Proceedings and Minutes of Decisions and Resolutions 
    Meeting of May 7, 2015      Pages 4-9  
    
(3) Gifts and Grants       Pages 10-11  
        
(4) Minutes of the Student Outcomes Committee of May 7, 2015 Pages 12-109   
 
(5) Minutes of the Business Affairs Committee of May 20, 2015 Page 110-120  
 
 
 
        
 

######## 
 

1



 
 

 

 

 
    
 
 
 

MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
AGENDA 

Thursday, June 4, 2015 – 3:00 p.m. 
Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1 

 
(1) Consent Agenda  
 

(a) Proceedings and Minutes of Decisions and Resolutions 
Meeting of May 7, 2015 

(b) Gifts and Grants 
(c) Construction Management, A.A.S. Audit 
(d) Facilities Management –Construction A.A.S. and 

Facilities Management-Design A.A. S. Audit 
(e) Computer Assisted Design Technology A.A.S. and Computer Assisted 

Design Technology Academic Certificate 
(f) HVAC Enhancements-Rooms BG-25 and BG-28 
(g) Architectural and Engineering Services Proposal for 

Vertical Transportation in West Building 
(h) 17th Street Landscaping Contracts 
(i) Renovations to Rooms M2-35 and M2-36 
 

(2) 2015-16 Operating and Capital College Budget   (A) 
 

(3) Report of the Chair 
 
(4) Foundation Report 
 
(5) Report of the President 
 
(6) New Business 
 
(7) Next Meeting:   Thursday, September 3, 2015 – 3:00 p.m. 
      Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1 
 
(8) Executive Session 
 
 
 
 
 

2



 
 
Future Committee Meetings: 
 

    
 Audit Committee:    Wednesday, June 10, 2015 
       12:00 noon – Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom   
    

Business Affairs:    Wednesday, June 17, 2015 
      9:00 a.m. – Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1 
  
Student Outcomes:    Thursday, September 3, 2015 

       1:30 p.m. – M2-34  
 
Upcoming Events 
 
 18th Annual Foundation Golf Classic  Monday, July 27, 2015 
 Commonwealth National Golf Club  1:30 a.m., Registration and Luncheon 
 250 Babylon Road, Horsham, PA  1:00 p.m. Shot Gun Start 
 
 45th Annual ACCT Leadership Congress October 14-17, 2015 
       San Diego, CA 
    
  
  
 
                                                                  ################## 

3



COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF PHILADELPHIA 
Proceedings of the Meeting of the Board of Trustees 

Thursday, May 7, 2015 – 3:00 p.m. 
 
Present: Mr. Bergheiser, presiding; Ms. Biemiller, Ms. Hernández Vélez, Ms. Holland, 

Ms. Horstmann, Mr. Lassiter,  Mayor Nutter, Dr. Rényi, Representative Roebuck, 
Ms. Sparandara, Ms. Tsai, Mr. White, Dr. Generals, Ms. Bauer, Ms. DiGregorio, 
Mr. Eapen, Ms. Garfinkle Weitz, Dr. Gay, Dr. Hirsch, Mr. G. Murphy, Mr. T. 
Murphy, and Mr. Spiewak 

 
(1) Consent Agenda 
 
 Mr. Bergheiser requested approval of the Consent Agenda: 
 

(a) Proceedings and Minutes of Decisions and Resolutions 
Meeting of April 2, 2015 

(b) Gifts and Grants  
(c) Digital Forensics A.A.S. Academic Audit    
(d) Recommendation to Discontinue Certificates: 

Academic Certificate in Justice    
Biotechnology Proficiency Certificate    
Biomedical Technician Training Proficiency Certificate 

(e) On-Campus Student Banking  
(f) Post Issuance Compliance Policy 
 
Ms. Hernández Vélez moved, with Dr. Rényi seconding, that the Board approve the 

Consent Agenda.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 

(2) Resolution Authorizing Public Comment Period at 
 Board of Trustees Meetings 
 
 Mr. Bergheiser read the proposed resolution authorizing the Public Comment Period at 
Board of Trustees meetings.  Amendments to the resolution were suggested by Ms. Tsai which 
were incorporated.  After discussion, Ms. Biemiller moved, with Ms. Hernández Vélez 
seconding, that the Board approve the Resolution as amended.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 Mr. Bergheiser stated that the Public Comment Period will be effective beginning with 
the September 3, 2015 Board meeting.  He requested that Ms. Garfinkle Weitz revise the Board 
of Trustees By-Laws to reflect the change. 
 
(3) Report of the Chair 
 
 Mr. Bergheiser thanked members of the Board for their participation in the Inauguration 
of Dr. Generals on May 1, 2015.  He stated that the Inauguration had been an inspiring and 
incredible event in the history of the College.  Mr. Bergheiser thanked Ms. Brown-Sow and her 
staff for all their work in coordinating the event.  He stated that the Inauguration generated much 

4



good will in the College community.  Mr. Bergheiser noted the well-deserved acknowledgement 
by Dr. Generals of Ms. Di Gregorio’s service and dedication to the President’s Office. 
 
 Mr. Bergheiser thanked members of the Board for their attendance of the 
Commencement Ceremony on May 2, 2015, and their participation in year-end events. 
 
 Mr. Bergheiser reported that he had addressed the Nominating Panel for Board 
Membership on May 5, 2015 outlining the needs of the College, and the level of Board members 
needed to move the College forward.  Mr. Bergheiser stated that following his remarks, he was 
interviewed by the Nominating Panel.   
 
 Mr. Bergheiser reminded members of the Board that Ethics training would follow the 
conclusion of the open Board meeting. 
 
 At the request of Mr. Bergheiser, Mr. White reported that under the leadership of Dr. 
Generals, staff had worked very hard to prepare a comprehensive review and analysis of budget 
priorities and objectives in the preparation of the 2015-16 Budget. He stated that the budget 
process incorporated the needs and policy objectives set by the Board of Trustees, and will not 
contain an increase in tuition and fees.   Mr. White stated that the Business Affairs Committee 
will review the proposed 2015-16 Budget at its meeting of May 20, 2015, followed by Board  
review and approval at the June 4, 2015 Board meeting.  Ms. White asked members of the Board 
to forward comments regarding the budget process to him or Dr. Generals.   
 
 Dr. Generals thanked Mr. Spiewak and Mr. Todd Murphy for their excellent work on the 
budget. 
 
(4) Foundation Report 
 
 Mr. Greg Murphy reported that since the gifts and grants report was compiled, the 
Foundation had received the following grants: 
 

• $25,000 from an individual for the 50th Anniversary Scholars Program; 
• $22,500 from Parx Casino for the Center for Male Engagement; 
• $12,000 from Achieving the Dream for scholarships; and 
• $12,000 from the National Endowment for the Arts for The Big Read. 

 
Mr. Murphy reported that the Foundation is moving forward with steps to build the 

Foundation Board in preparation for a comprehensive campaign in the near future, but also to 
start to build the fund for the 50th Anniversary Scholars Program, and the endowment that will 
eventually support that scholarship.  Mr. Murphy stated that with the help of Foundation Board 
member and extraordinary fundraiser, Don Kligerman, the Foundation is hosting two breakfasts 
in June and July.  Leaders from the corporate, philanthropic, and civic sectors will be invited to 
come hear about the College and the College Foundation.  Each event will be held at the Union 
League and will include 20-25 leaders who will hear Dr. Generals present his vision for the 
future of the College.   
 

5



 Mr. Murphy reported that the Council for the Advancement and Support of Education is 
publishing a book on innovative and best practices in Community College fundraising.  He stated 
that he has been asked to write a chapter on student philanthropy because of the Foundation’s 
award winning I-pledge program developed by our scholarship manager, Patti Conroy.   
 
 Mr. Murphy reported that the Foundation Annual Golf Tournament is scheduled for 
Monday, July 27, 2015 at the Commonwealth National Golf Club in Horsham, PA.    
 
 Mr. Murphy reported that the Foundation Scholars event is scheduled for Thursday, May 
21, 2015 at 5:30 p.m. in the Pavilion Klein Cube.    
 
(5) Report of the President 
 
 Dr. Generals called the Board’s attention to a memorandum in the meeting folder 
outlining his activities during the months of April and May. 
 

Dr. Generals thanked members of the Board for their participation in the Inauguration 
ceremony on May 1, Commencement on May 2, and other year-end activities.  He stated that he 
greatly appreciated their support of the College and our students. 
 
 Dr. Generals reported that the College’s Budget hearing before City Council took place 
on Wednesday, April 22, 2015.  He stated that the hearing went well and that City Council 
members were very supportive of the College.  Dr. Generals stated that Council had asked 
several questions, and that staff were in the process of providing the requested information to 
City Council.   
 
(6) New Business 
 

Ms. Hernández Vélez thanked the President and member of the Board of Trustees for 
their expression of sympathy for the passing of her mother. 
 
(7) Next Meeting 
 
 The next meeting of the Board of Trustees is scheduled for Thursday, June 4, 2015 at 
3:00 p.m. in the Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom. 
 
 The meeting adjourned at 4:00 p.m. 
 
(8) Ethics Training 
 
 The Board reconvened for the Ethics training session.   

6



 
COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF PHILADELPHIA 

Proceedings of the Meeting of the Board of Trustees 
Thursday, May 7, 2015 – 3:00 p.m. 

MINUTES OF DECISIONS AND RESOLUTIONS 
 
Present: Mr. Bergheiser, presiding; Ms. Biemiller, Ms. Hernández Vélez, Ms. Holland,  

Ms. Horstmann, Mr. Lassiter,  Mayor Nutter, Dr. Rényi, Representative Roebuck, 
Ms. Sparandara, Ms. Tsai, Mr. White, Dr. Generals, Ms. Bauer, Ms. DiGregorio, 
Mr. Eapen, Ms. Garfinkle Weitz, Dr. Gay, Dr. Hirsch,  Mr. G. Murphy, Mr. T. 
Murphy, and Mr. Spiewak 

 
(1) Consent Agenda 
 
 The Board approved the following Consent Agenda: 
 

(a) Proceedings and Minutes of Decisions and Resolutions 
Meeting of April 2, 2015 

(b) Gifts and Grants  
(c) Digital Forensics A.A.S. Academic Audit    
(d) Recommendation to Discontinue Certificates: 

Academic Certificate in Justice    
Biotechnology Proficiency Certificate    
Biomedical Technician Training Proficiency Certificate 

(e) On-Campus Student Banking  
(f) Post Issuance Compliance Policy 

 
(2) Resolution Authorizing Public Comment Period at 
 Board of Trustees Meetings 
 
  The Board approved the Resolution authorizing the Public Comment Period at Board of 
Trustees meetings as amended.  
 
(3) Report of the Chair 
 
 Mr. Bergheiser thanked members of the Board for their participation in the Inauguration 
of Dr. Generals on May 1, 2015, the Commencement Ceremony on May 2, 2015, and other year-
end events. 
 
 Mr. Bergheiser addressed the Nominating Panel for Board Membership on May 5, 2015.   
 
 Mr. Bergheiser reminded members of the Board that Ethics training would follow the 
conclusion of the open Board meeting. 
 
 Dr. Generals thanked Mr. Spiewak and Mr. T. Murphy for their excellent work on the 
budget. 

7



 
(4) Foundation Report 
 
 The Foundation received the following additional grants: 
 

• $25,000 from an individual for the 50th Anniversary Scholars Program; 
• $22,500 from Parx Casino for the Center for Male Engagement; 
• $12,000 from Achieving the Dream for scholarships; and 
• $12,000 from the National Endowment for the Arts for The Big Read. 

 
The Foundation is moving forward with steps to build the Foundation Board in 

preparation for a comprehensive campaign in the near future, but also to start to build the fund 
for the 50th Anniversary Scholars Program, and the endowment that will eventually support that 
scholarship.   
 
 The Council for the Advancement and Support of Education is publishing a book on 
innovative and best practices in Community College fundraising and has requested staff to write 
a chapter on student philanthropy.    
 
 The Foundation Annual Golf Tournament is scheduled for Monday, July 27, 2015 at 
Commonwealth National Golf Club in Horsham, PA.    
 
 The Foundation Scholars event is scheduled for Thursday, May 21, 2015 at 5:30 p.m. in 
the Pavilion Klein Cube.    
 
(5) Report of the President 
 
 Dr. Generals called the Board’s attention to a memorandum in the meeting folder 
outlining his activities during the months of April and May. 
 

Dr. Generals thanked members of the Board for their participation in the Inauguration 
ceremony on May 1, Commencement on May 2, and other year-end activities.   
 
 The College’s Budget hearing before City Council took place on Wednesday, April 22, 
2015. 
 
(6) New Business 
 

Ms. Hernández Vélez thanked the President and members of the Board of Trustees for 
their expression of sympathy for the passing of her mother. 
 
(7) Next Meeting 
 
 The next meeting of the Board of Trustees is scheduled for Thursday, June 4, 2015 at 
3:00 p.m. in the Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom. 
 

8



 The meeting adjourned at 4:00 p.m. 
 
(8) Ethics Training 
 
 The Board reconvened for the Ethics training session.   

9



10



11



STUDENT OUTCOMES COMMITTEE OF THE  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 
MINUTES 

Thursday, May 7, 2015 
1:30 p.m. – Room M2-34 

 

 
 
Presiding:      Dr. Judith Rényi 
 
Present: Dr. Judith Gay, Dr. Donald Generals, Dr. Samuel Hirsch, Ms. Mary Horstmann,   

Ms. Lydia Hernández Vélez 
 
 
Guests:          Mr. David Bertram, Dr. Miles Grosbard, Mr. John V. Moore, Dr. Donavan 

McCargo, Dr. Marian McGorry, Dr. Sharon Thompson, Mr. David Watters 
 
(1) Executive Session 
 

The Student Outcomes Committee Board members reviewed faculty members who will 
be promoted to Assistant Professor.   

 
(2) Public Session 
 

a) Approval of Minutes of April 2, 2015 (Action Item) 
 

The minutes were accepted. 
 

b) 2015-2016 Student Activities, Athletics, and Commencement Budget 
 

Mr. Watters reviewed highlights of the proposed budget.  One change is the use of the 
Student Programming Board to make some programming decisions.  There was a 
discussion about the use of paper for publications versus electronic publishing.  Both Dr. 
Rényi and Ms. Horstmann advocated moving away from paper as much as possible.  
There was also a discussion about programing for the “non-traditional student.”  Dr. 
Hirsch stated that the use of the Student Programming Board has helped in identifying 
activities that respond to the interests of a diverse array of students.  Dr. Rényi 
commented that it is important to help faculty understand how to work with students with 
adult responsibilities.  For example, she suggested that the College provide virtual tours. 

 
Action:  The Student Outcomes Committee of the Board recommends that the 
Board of Trustees accept the proposed 2015-2016 budget. 

 
c) Academic Audits 

 
Mr. Moore reviewed the audits for Construction Management (AAS), Facilities 

12



Management–Construction (AAS) and Facilities Management–Design (AAS). 

Mr. Moore stated that about 100 other programs were reviewed and none had as many 
options in the first two years as at the College.  He stated that there is much overlap in 
courses, outcomes and job opportunities across the programs.  Dr. Grosbard stated that 
Construction Management is different from Facilities Management.  Ms. Hernández 
Vélez stated that she has a background in both fields and she agrees that the two fields 
are different.  Dr. Grosbard continued by stating that the College has the only Facilities 
Management program in the City and, other than Singapore, is the only accredited 
program at a two-year college.  He added that the fields are booming.   

There was a discussion about the graduation rates.  According to Dr. Generals, the reason 
we have few graduates is because of the slow progress working students make.  Still, he 
said he is disappointed that the graduation rate is not what it should be.  Dr. Grosbard 
said the members of the Advisory Committee have stated that they want to hire people 
with degrees and there is no savings by reducing the options.   

Dr. Grosbard said that even though the programs are AAS programs, the faculty is 
working on transfer opportunities.  An issue is that students who want to transfer need to 
be able to do calculus.  Dr. Rényi asked how students make sense of all the options.  Dr. 
Grosbard stated that faculty direct students based on what they want to do.  Dr. Grosbard 
stated he does not want to pre-judge what should happen before the next meeting of the 
Advisory Committee.  He also stated that he is not sure the timelines in the audit are 
reasonable.  Dr. Thompson stated that we could use similar strategies as were used for the 
BHHS audits but a year is too long to be looking.  She added that we need to focus on 
what we need to do to get students jobs.  Dr. Generals stated that he believes the audits 
should spark debate about how to make things stronger.  He said we should consider 
guided pathways, additional support and accelerated online options.  Dr. Grosbard stated 
that there will be a new department head in the Fall (David Bertram).  He should have an 
opportunity to look at enrollment patterns and why it is taking so long for people to get 
degrees.  Dr. Grosbard also stated that he thinks the numbers as suspect–—that coding of 
students in programs may be an issue.  Dr. Rényi stated that there should be more women 
in the programs; students need to move faster to complete the credential; and there needs 
to be a focus on getting students over the developmental hump.  Ms. Horstmann said the 
College needs to determine what approaches could be used to improve if there is not a 
clear consolidation.  Dr. Rényi added that the Student Outcomes Committee of the Board 
has been asking for measurable targets for student enrollment, etc. and a timeline for 
reaching the targets.  The Committee decided that December is a reasonable timeframe 
for a response. 

 
Mr. Moore then discussed the Computer Assisted Design (CAD) degree program and 
academic certificate.  He compared it to the situation for Geographic Information 
Systems.  There is a skillset needed but not necessarily a degree.  Dr. Thompson stated 
that the Advisory Committee has discussed the topic and agrees students do not need a 
CAD degree.  Ms. Horstmann commented that the focus on skills versus degrees is the 
wave of the future. 

 

13



Dr. Grosbard stated that the CAD program started in the 1990’s when CAD was new.  He 
said it has been eclipsed by other developments but that the program does have two 
unique courses—animation and building modeling.  He stated that he cannot deny that 
students are not staying to graduate but that the Benjamin Franklin High School Center 
for Technology includes CAD as one of the six programs it will offer in September.  He 
believes it is premature to “kill the program.”  CAD is fundamental to architecture, 
product design, etc.  He asked to have until December to make a proposal for the future 
and to have a decision. 

 
Action:  The Student Outcomes Committee of the Board recommends accepting the 
audit but postponing the decision about consolidation until receiving an update in 
December 2015.  The Committee recommends eliminating the Computer Assisted 
Design AAS degree.  

 
d) Religious Studies A.A. Audit Update 
 

Dr. Thompson reviewed the Religious Studies A.A. Audit update.  The faculty have been 
reaching out to the faith-based community and meeting with students.   

 
Action:  The Student Outcomes Committee of the Board accepted the update. 

 
e)       CAHM Academic Audit Update/Accounting A.A.S. Audit Update 
 

Dr. McGorry reviewed both the Culinary Arts/Hospitality Management Academic Audit 
update and Accounting A.A.S. Audit update.  She explained steps the faculty are taking 
for improvement.  For example, the faculty have all taken on a caseload of about 35 
advisees each.  She commented that the activities of the faculty are working but need 
more time to see the impact.   

 
Action:  The Student Outcomes Committee of the Board accepted the updates but 
asked that the Accounting program identify targets. 

 
 

The meeting was adjourned. 
 
 
Next Meeting: 
 

The next meeting of the Student Outcomes Committee of the Board is scheduled for 
Thursday, June 4, 2015 at 1:30 p.m. in conference room M2-34. 

 
 
Attachments: 
Minutes of  April 2, 2015 
Budget Assumptions and Rationale for the Student Activities, Athletics, and Commencement for 
FY16 Budget 

14



2015-16 Student Activities, Athletics, and Commencement Budget 
Academic Program Audits:  Construction Management  A.A.S.  
Facilities Management-Constructions A.A.S.    
Facilities Management-Design A.A.S.  
Computed Assisted Design Technology A.A.S.  
Computer Assisted Design Technology Academic Certificate   
Religious Studies A.A. Audit Update 
CAHM Academic Audit Update 
Accounting AAS Degree Audit Update 
 

15



 

STUDENT OUTCOMES COMMITTEE OF THE  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 
MINUTES 

Thursday, April 2, 2015 
1:30 p.m. – Room M2-34 

 
 
 
Presiding: Ms. Stacy Holland 
 
Present: Mr. Mark Edwards, Dr. Judith Gay, Dr. Donald Generals, Dr. Samuel Hirsch, Dr. 

Judith Rényi, Dr. James Roebuck 
 
Guests: Dr. Mary Anne Celenza, Dr. Gayle Dixon 

 
(1) Executive Session 

 
The Student Outcomes Committee Board members will recommend four faculty for 
promotion to Associate Professor.   
 
The Student Outcomes Committee of the Board members will make a recommendation 
for an honorary degree. 

 
(2) Public Session 

 
a)  Approval of Minutes of February 5, 2015 (Action Item) 

 
The minutes were accepted. 
 
b)  Middle States Update 
 

Dr. Gay gave a brief overview of the Middle States team visit and report, both identifying 
things that the team liked and things for continuing improvement.  Dr. Rényi stated that there 
should be national benchmarks for every program, and faculty need to be able to articulate what 
the student will look like at the end of the process.  Dr. Gay then identified next steps:  the 
College will receive a draft report and have a chance to correct any errors of fact; a final report 
will be submitted to Middle States by the head of the Visiting Team; the College will have a 
chance to respond to that report.  The Middle States Commission on Higher Education will act in 
June 2015. 
 

c) Student Outcomes Dashboard – 2013/2014 Data 
 

Ms. Holland stated that the discussion should not focus on the categories or the format 
since the current dashboard is the one approved by the Student Outcomes Committee (SOC) of 
the Board.  She also stated that the College met or was close to the target in many of the 
categories.  Finally, she mentioned that it would be helpful to see the variance reflected on the 

16



 

dashboard.  Dr. Gay reminded the SOC members that the targets in the dashboard were based on 
the Strategic Plan targets.  Mr. Edwards stated that it would be helpful to see how the College 
data compares to peers.  Dr. Generals stated that he would like to see how the data compares to 
the Aspen award elite.  Dr. Rényi agreed that there should be aspirational goals, and if there are 
reasons beyond the control of the institution for not meeting targets, it should be reflected in a 
footnote.  Dr. Generals said he plans to make changes in the targets.  Mr. Edwards stated that the 
College has made a phenomenal start. 
 
 Dr. Rényi asked whether there should be something on the dashboard related to Standard 
14.  Ms. Holland stated that it would be helpful to know if the quality of instruction is good.  She 
added that the dashboard needs to be concise while also being clear about what matters.  Dr. 
Rényi agreed it should reflect the value added by the College.  Dr. Generals stated that he would 
like to see outcomes of developmental education, including how many are raised out of 
developmental education; gaps for students of color; and general education/core competency 
outcomes. 
 

Ms. Holland said there needs to be a space where the Board can see alignment between 
vision, strategy, and policy/finance.  The dashboard should reflect what the president thinks is 
most critical. 
 

d)  Foundational Math  
 

Dr. Gayle Dixon explained the steps that are being taken in the new department.  The 
department is hiring new full time faculty for the next academic year.  An intermediate algebra 
course will be taught in the department starting summer 2015.  For fall 2015, there will be 
accelerated (7-week) courses so students can take 016/017 and 017/118 in one semester.  Dr. 
Hirsch mentioned that the same accelerated pattern will be used for English courses.  Mr. 
Edwards stated that he likes the flexibility but questioned how will we measure outcomes?  Dr. 
Generals responded that no difference equals success. 
 

Dr. Dixon stated that the faculty have revised the student learning outcomes for the 
foundational math courses and have streamlined the final exam.  They are looking at other 
approaches to instruction.  They are working on an NSF grant for K-14 connections.  SOC 
members discussed wanting to know how the approaches chosen will result in better outcomes 
and how the faculty will use the results. 
 

e) Academic Audits 
 
Action: The Student Outcomes Committee of the Board agreed to recommend approving 

the Digital Forensics Program audit and recertifying the program for five years.  
 
f)  Recommendation to Discontinue Certificates 
 
Action: The Student Outcomes Committee of the Board agreed to recommend that the 

following certificates be discontinued:  Academic Certificate in Justice; Biotechnology 
Proficiency Certificate; and Biomedical Technician Training Proficiency Certificate. 

17



 

 
g)  Accounting AAS Degree Audit Update 
 
Postponed until the May meeting. 

 
 

The meeting was adjourned. 
 

 
Next Meeting: 

 
The next meeting of the Student Outcomes Committee of the Board is scheduled for 

Thursday, May 7, 2015 at 1:30 p.m. in conference room M2-34. 
 
 

 
 

Attachments: 
Minutes of  February 5, 2015 
Digital Forensics Audit Summary 
Student Outcomes Dashboard 
Academic Program Audit:  Digital Forensics A.A.S.     
Summary Recommendations to Discontinue Certificates 
Recommendation to Discontinue the Academic Certificate in Justice  
Recommendation to Discontinue the Biotechnology Proficiency Certificate 
Recommendation to Discontinue the Biomedical Technician Training Proficiency Certificate 
Accounting AAS Degree Audit Update 
  

 
 

18



Executive Summaries: 

Construction Management (AAS), Facilities Management–Construction (AAS) and Facilities 
Management–Design (AAS). 

Construction Management Audit 

The Construction Management Program prepares graduates to enter a variety of careers in the 
construction industry and related fields, including jobs as estimators, project managers and schedulers, 
surveyors, specifiers, quality control supervisors, materials testers, construction materials and 
equipment salespersons, owners’ representatives, and site inspectors.  

The Program has existed at the College since 1966, and underwent its most recent revision in 2010.  

Nationally, employment of construction managers is projected to grow 19% percent from 2014 to 2024, 
faster than the average for all occupations.  

Enrollment in the Construction Management Program averaged 76 students over the last five years and 
is on an upward trend.  

The Program enrolls less students that place at college level and, consequently, a higher proportion of 
students that place in all developmental courses. In spite of the low proportion of students placing at 
college level, the Program records outcomes similar to those of the College in many areas and stronger 
outcomes are recorded in academic standing, course completion, and GPA. Eighteen degrees have been 
awarded over the past five years.  

The Program shares a significant number of courses and student learning outcomes with other courses 
in the department. Additionally, the program shares four Student Learning Outcomes with Building 
Science and three SLOs with the Energy Conservation Academic Certificate.  

Information on all student learning outcomes for the Construction Management Program has been 
uploaded into SharePoint. A lack of continuity in the documents that indicate what courses feed into the 
outcomes is an issue of note. Additionally, the sources of evidence in SharePoint are incomplete. 
Therefore, it is unclear which sources of evidence and rubrics are being used to assess each outcome.  

This is a direct-to-work program with approximately 20% of students transferring upon departure. 
However, the Program does not have any program to program articulation agreements. In its current 
form, the program would struggle to establish program to program articulation agreements with local 
colleges because the College’s Construction Management Program does not require courses in calculus, 
physics, engineering, and business. These courses are required in the first two years of the Construction 
Management Programs at local colleges. Draft course equivalency agreements are in process, however 
with three local institutions.  

 

 

19



Facilities Management Audits 

CCP offers two associates degrees in Facilities Management: Facilities Management Construction A.A.S. 
(FAMC) and Facilities Management Design A.A.S (FAMD). The Facility Management Construction Option 
is designed to prepare students for entry-level positions as a facility managers or construction 
managers. The Design Option is intended to prepare graduates for entry-level positions as facility 
managers, space programmers, or move coordinators. Both Facilities Management Programs have 
existed at the College since 2008 and have been accredited by the International Facilities Management 
Association Foundation since 2010; it one of the few two year programs in the world to have this 
accreditation. Both Programs underwent revisions in the fall of 2013.  

Both Programs have at least doubled their enrollments over the past five years, with enrollment in 
Construction averaging 17 students per fall semester, and Design averaging 6 students per fall semester. 
The Programs enroll a higher proportion of males than the Division and the College and more than half 
the students in the Programs are over the age of 30.  

Both Programs record stronger outcomes than the Division and the College in terms of academic 
standing, fall-fall retention, success at departure, and course completion. Both Programs also enroll a 
lower proportion of college ready students than the Division and the College. The Construction Program 
has awarded 15 degrees in the past five years, while the Design program has awarded 6 degrees in the 
same time period.  

Sections within the Architecture, Design, and Construction Department run less efficiently than the 
Division and the College. The Department offers nine programs, which share 29 courses. Within the two 
Facilities Management Programs, 16 of the 20 required courses overlap. Additionally, considerable 
overlap exists between all of the Programs in the Department.  

Each Program has five Student Learning Outcomes, two of which are shared among the two Facilities 
Management Programs. Three outcomes are shared with Architecture, three outcomes are shared with 
Computer Assisted Design (Degree and Certificate), and three outcomes are shared with Interior Design. 
Facilities Management-Construction is up-to-date on program level assessment; Faculties Management 
Design has assessed four out of five Program Level Outcomes. Both Programs require additional 
documentation to be uploaded into SharePoint, including rubrics and additional sources of evidence.  

Locally, one college offers a four year degree in Facilities Management and the program does not have 
any program to program articulation agreements but does have an informal course equivalency 
agreement.  

Due to the considerable overlap in student learning outcomes, courses, reporting (QVIs, operating cost 
data, advisory committees, and course catalogue descriptions) and career paths, we recommend that 
these programs be combined with the other AAS programs within the department.  

 

 

 

20



Computer Assisted Design Technology 

The College offers two programs in Computer Assisted Design Technology: Computer Assisted Design 
Technology A.A.S. and Computer Assisted Design Technology Academic Certificate. The degree prepares 
graduates to enter the professional and technical services as drafters and technicians, primarily in 
architecture, engineering and construction, or in architectural animation. The certificate program 
prepares graduates interested in the field of computer-assisted design technology, current workers 
desiring more training, and those with a background in related technical fields for careers as 
documentation drafters and technicians. The program underwent its most recent revision in 2003.  

Enrollment in the Computer Assisted Design Degree Program has averaged 113 students each fall over 
the last five years, the Certificate averaged four over the same time period. The Programs enroll a 
disproportionate population of males. Students in the Degree Program are generally younger and less 
likely to be college ready compared to the Division and the College.  

The Computer Assisted Design Degree Program posts weaker outcomes than the Division and College in 
many areas including: standing, retention, graduation, success at departure, and course completion.  

In the past five years, 10 degrees and one certificate have been awarded. Although the focus of the 
Degree Program is not transfer, 24% of students who left the Program in the last five years transferred 
(58 students). The majority of these transfers occurred among students with zero to 12 credits.  

Within the department there is considerable overlap among the Computer Assisted Design courses and 
program level outcomes.  

The Computer Assisted Design Degree has assessed all five of the Program Learning Outcomes and the 
Certificate has assessed all four PLOs, both Programs have uploaded some supporting information into 
SharePoint. Both Programs need to evaluate the level of their benchmark, clarify the assessment 
process and upload independent rubrics for each outcome. Additionally, since the Programs met all of 
their benchmarks, no closing the loop activities were performed.  

Over the next ten years, jobs in Drafting are projected to decrease in the Philadelphia area, yet remain 
steady nationally.  

Over the past five years, the Degree Program’s operating costs have exceeded the average operating 
costs for the College and the Division.  

Due to the Programs’ low number of degrees awarded, poor retention, overlap in courses and program 
learning outcomes, lack of assessment documentation, shrinking local job market, and high program 
cost, we recommend that this program be closed.  

Action:  The Student Outcomes Committee of the Board recommends accepting the audit 
but postponing the decision about consolidation until receiving an update in December 
2015.  The Committee recommends eliminating the Computer Assisted Design AAS degree.  
 

21



   
Budget Assumptions and Rationale for the Student Activities, Athletics, and 

Commencement Budget for the Fiscal Year 2016  
 

 
Below are issues and rationales for various budgeting criteria for creating the Student 
Activities, Athletics, and Commencement Budget for the Fiscal Year 2016. 
 
Revenue Sources (FY16 Proposed)     (FY15 Approved) 
 ·  General College Fee: $1,550,550   (1% increase over FY15) 
 ·  Revenue from Activities: $150,000   (3.4% increase over FY15) 
 ·  Net Profits from Bookstore/Cafeteria: $694,275 (7.9% increase over FY15) 
 ·  Commencement Support: $57,000   (0% increase over FY15) 
  

· Net increase of $72,825 over FY15 Approved (3%) 
· Net increase of $58,262 over FY15 Revised (2.4%) 

 
  
             
 
Budget Lines 
 
 Percentages   Guidelines  FY14   FY15 
 
 Student Publications  10%   10.4%      9.2% 
 Campus Programming  15%   14.5%    11.8% 
 Performing Arts    5%     3.1%      2.6% 
 Student Support  15%   17.0%    15.4% 
 Student Lead./Involv.  15%   15.0%    21.0% 
 Athletics   35%   35.3%    35.0% 
 Contingency     5%     5.0%      5.0% 
               100%              100.0%            100.0%            
 
 
 
 
Individual Budget Lines 
 
A projected increase of $72,825 in FY16 Projected Revenue compared to FY15 
Approved Budget; an overall increase in Staff costs of $53,500; and level funding in the 
Child Care Center contingency, a small decrease in First Year Student Support; and a 
small increase in Commencement budgets, the FY16 programming budget lines have an 
additional $35,328 (4.2%) over the FY15 programming budget.   ($798,000 available in 
FY15; $833,325 available in FY16) 
 
 

22



FY16 Budget  
04/22/15 

 
Staff  (53.4% of funds; up from 52.8% in FY15) 
  (Increase of $53,500) 
 
 - Fringe Benefit increases 
 - Salary increases 
  
 
The increase in net overall staff salaries reflects the full-year funding of all positions in 
Student Life and Athletics in this budget.  This includes both salaries and full cost of all 
fringe benefits.   
 
There is a small increase in the percentage of funds, as compared to current year budget, 
dedicated to Staff: from 52.8% to 53.4% of total funds.  
 
 
 
Student Publications  (Guideline - 10%; Actual – 9.2%)  
 
(Decrease of $6,120; 7.4%) 
  
     Minimal impact on current programmatic levels.   
 
The three student literary magazines are still being produced.  This year, the printing for 
Limited Editions and Cypher (developmental English magazine) was moved to off 
campus printer.  Savings were realized by combining printing orders onto single Purchase 
Order and by limiting print run of each magazine.  The magazine for ESL student writing 
is under review by English Department. 
 
Student Handbook is in year two of three-year printing contract. 
 
 
Campus Programming (Guideline - 15%; Actual – 11.8%) 
 
(Decrease of $17,284; 14.9%) 
 
Some significant changes reflected in this section.  Overall programming efforts by 
Student Life have not changed – but changes in budget lines used were made.  
Specifically, events and programming formerly budgeted in the Films, Lectures, 
Concerts, Special Event Student Programs, and Campus Customs budget lines are now 
being produced by the Student Programming Board whose programming budgets are 
reflected in the Student Leadership and Involvement section of the budget. 
 
The almost doubling of the Regional Center budget reflects the establishment of the 
Regional Center Student Programming Board and creating a more vibrant and robust 
programming calendar at each Regional Center. 

23



FY16 Budget  
04/22/15 

 
 
Performing Arts (Guideline – 5%; Actual 2.6%) 
 
 (Decrease of $3,000) 
 
 
This decrease is result of the Spoken Word – Student Performances becoming a student 
club (and funded by Student Government Association) and not sponsored directly by the 
Student Life Center.    . 
 
The Musical Events line is used to pay for BMI/SESAC/ASCAP royalties and is a fixed 
cost.   
 
 
Student Support (Guideline – 15%; Actual 15.4%) 
 
(Decrease of $7,700; 5.7%) 
 
This decrease is a reflection of the programs and services formerly associated with the 
Student Involvement budget line being regrouped between the Co-Curricular Cultural and 
Educational Trips budget line (thus resulting in that budget line increase) and with the 
Student Programming Board. 
 
“Health & Wellness Programs”: This line covers student medical costs associated with 
P&P 308.   
 
 
 
Student Leadership and Involvement (Guideline – 15%; Actual 21%) 
 
(Increase of $55,300 ; 46.2%) 
 
 
Philosophically, this section of the budget has reflected programs and services that are 
student led and initiated.  This section has traditionally funded Student Government 
Association, Phi Theta Kappa, and all clubs and organizations.   
 
With the creation of the Student Programming Board three years ago, it has matured into 
a student leadership opportunity that initiates many of the campus events, programs, and 
activities that historically were staff driven.  Staff supervision is still in place and 
required, but the Student Programming Board now is the sponsor of concerts, lectures, art 
shows, etc., in addition to collaborative programming efforts with Student Government, 
student clubs, and others across campus.   
 

24



FY16 Budget  
04/22/15 

 
Athletics (Guideline 35%; Actual 35%) 
 
(Increase of $28,600; 10.2%) 
 
The Athletic Department entered into a lease agreement for a van for transporting teams 
to and from competitions.  The anticipated full-year use of the van is reflected in the 
creation of a new budget line (Athletics – Transportation) and the decrease in budget 
lines where bus or van rentals will no longer be necessary. 
 
The anticipated decrease, due to the Affordable Care Act, in insurance premiums was not 
realized this year.  A further review is being done this year for reduced premiums (for 
both intervarsity and intramural coverage).  Any savings will be distributed within the 
Athletics budget.  
 
 
Contingency (Guideline - 5%; Actual – 5%) 
 
(Increase of $1,766; 4.4%) 
  
Increase to maintain overall 5% guideline (split 35% Athletics and 65% Student Life).  
  
First Year Student Success  
 
This budget covers expenses related to programmatic efforts in support of entering and 
first-year students.  This includes Student Orientation and Registration (SOaR), New 
Student Orientation Welcomes, Welcome Week, and Student Involvement Days.   
 
Child Care  
 
  
The Child Care budget is needed as a contingency for any charges that might be needed 
that are not covered with KLC contract or are beyond routine institutional costs 
(housekeeping, maintenance, etc.)   
 
Commencement 
 
Commencement budget covers most graduation-related expenses and the May ceremony 
expenses: student cap/gowns, honor cords, printing of programs, hall rental and event 
production costs.   
 

25



26



27



28



TABLE VI I -A

STUDENT ACTIVITIES, ATHLETICS & COMMENCEMENT BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2015-2016
(WITH COMPARISON TO FISCAL YEARS 2013-14 AND 2014-15)

Variance
Approved Revised Proposed From 2014-15 % Change

2013-14 2014-15 2014-15 2015-16 Revised From 2014-15
Actual Budget Budget Budget Budget Revised

REVENUES
General College Fee $1,536,150 $1,537,000 1,530,448 $1,550,550 $20,102 1.3
Commencement Support $57,000 $57,000 57,000 57,000 0 0.0
Auxiliary Profits $708,672 $640,000 661,115 694,275 33,160 5.0
Revenues from Activities $166,024 $145,000 145,000 150,000 5,000 3.4

TOTAL REVENUES $2,467,846 $2,379,000 $2,393,563 $2,451,825 $58,262 2.4

EXPENDITURES
Student Publications $72,873 $83,120 $73,120 $77,000 $3,880 5.3
Campus Programming $263,052 $115,700 $107,700 98,416 (9,284) (8.6)
Performing Arts $28,301 $24,500 $22,000 21,500 (500) (2.3)
Student Support $154,603 $135,780 $135,480 128,080 (7,400) (5.5)
Student Leadership &                 
Involvment $135,739 $119,700 $203,703 175,000 (28,703) (14.1)
Athletics $267,017 $279,300 $308,570 291,663 (16,907) (5.5)
Contingency $2,000 $39,900 $25,935 41,666 15,731 60.7
First Year Student Success $160,776 $178,000 $150,400 160,000 9,600 6.4
Childcare Support $0 $5,000 $5,000 5,000 0 0.0
Commencement $157,422 $143,000 $143,000 145,000 2,000 1.4

Staff $1,154,997 $1,255,000 $1,219,397 1,308,500 89,103 7.3
Student Act - Renovations 160,700
TOTAL EXPENDITURES $2,557,479 $2,379,000 $2,394,305 $2,451,825 $57,520 2.4

Renovations (Org 32598) to: Winnet (S1-03; S2-08; S3-09) Campus Study/informal space

29



Community College of Philadelphia 
 

Academic Program Audit 
 

Construction Management A.A.S. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Authors: 
Christine McDonnell 

John V. Moore III 
 

Contributors: 
Miles Grosbard 
David Bertram 

 
Date: April, 2015 

30



 

I. Executive Summary 
The Construction Management Program prepares graduates to enter a variety of careers in 
the construction industry and related fields, including jobs as estimators, project managers 
and schedulers, surveyors, specifiers, quality control supervisors, materials testers, 
construction materials and equipment salespersons, owners’ representatives, and site 
inspectors. 
 
The Program has existed at the College since 1966, and underwent its most recent revision 
in 2010.   
 
Nationally, employment of construction managers is projected to grow 19% percent from 
2014 to 2024, faster than the average for all occupations. 
Enrollment in the Construction Management Program averaged 76 students over the last 
five years and is on an upward trend. 
 
The Program enrolls less students that place at college level and, consequently, a higher 
proportion of students that place in all developmental courses. In spite of the low 
proportion of students placing at college level, the Program records outcomes similar to 
those of the College in many areas and stronger outcomes are recorded in academic 
standing, course completion, and GPA. Eighteen degrees have been awarded over the past 
five years.  
 
The Program shares a significant number of courses and student learning outcomes with 
other courses in the department. Additionally, the program shares four Student Learning 
Outcomes with Building Science and three SLOs with the Energy Conservation Academic 
Certificate. 
 
Information on all student learning outcomes for the Construction Management Program 
has been uploaded into SharePoint. A lack of continuity in the documents that indicate what 
courses feed into the outcomes is an issue of note. Additionally, the sources of evidence in 
SharePoint are incomplete. Therefore, it is unclear which sources of evidence and rubrics 
are being used to assess each outcome.   
 
This is a direct-to-work program with approximately 20% of students transferring upon 
departure.  However, the Program does not have any program to program articulation 
agreements.  In its current form, the program would struggle to establish program to 
program articulation agreements with local colleges because the College’s Construction 
Management Program does not require courses in calculus, physics, engineering, and 
business.  These courses are required in the first two years of the Construction Management 
Programs at local colleges.  Draft course equivalency agreements are in process, however 
with three local institutions. 
 

II. Program Description from the College Catalog 
This program prepares students for a variety of careers in the construction industry and 
related fields, including jobs as estimators, project managers and schedulers, surveyors, 
specifiers, quality control supervisors, materials testers, construction materials and 

31



equipment salespersons, owners’ representatives, and site inspectors. Individuals interested 
in developing small, independent construction contracting businesses will also find this 
program useful toward achieving that goal. Although designed for career preparation, it also 
can serve students interested in continuing their studies and earning a bachelor’s degree. 
Courses within this program utilize the latest industry-standard computer software for 
project scheduling, construction cost estimating, and contract and specification writing. 
 
A. History and Revisions to the Curriculum  

The Construction Management Program has existed at the College in some form since 
1966. The Program underwent its last revision in 2010. Prior to the 2010 revision, the 
last revision was in 2006. The 2006 revision included changing the program’s name from 
Construction Technology to Construction Management. As of the Fall of 2014, the 
Construction Technology Program had seven students enrolled in it.  
 
The 2010 revision was the result of recommendations made by the advisory committee, 
program faculty, and industry voices. These changes include requiring ADC 286: Building 
Rehabilitation and Energy Retrofit and ADC 226: Structures I, developing ADC 146: 
Construction Supervision and Business Practices, and the revision of ADC 136: 
Construction Safety and Building Codes. ADC 286: Building Rehabilitation and Energy 
Retrofit was created in the spring of 2010 as a program elective and designed to give 
increased attention to building rehabilitation. In December 2010, the course was 
approved as a program requirement. ADC 146: Construction Supervision and Business 
Practices was created to include construction personnel supervision and management 
of small construction businesses in the curriculum. ADC 136: Construction Safety and 
Building Codes was revised and renamed to include construction site and personnel 
safety in the curriculum. Additionally, five courses within the program (ADC 112, ADC 
212, ADC 237, ADC 253, and ADC 254 (see curriculum sequence, below)) were revised to 
include additional content in the area of green construction.  
 
Apart from the 2010 revision, ADC 101: Introduction to Design and Construction and 
ADC 103: CAD Basics were revised to meet technological competency requirements of 
the general education standards. ADC 112: Construction Materials and Detailing: 
Principles and ADC 212; Construction Materials and Detailing: Methods were updated to 
include more “green” and sustainable design, material selection, and construction 
methods.  
 

32



B. Curriculum Sequence  
Course Number and Name Pre & Co-requisites Credits Gen Ed Req. 
First Semester 

   ADC 101 - Introduction to Design & Construction 
 

3 Tech Comp 
ADC 103 - CAD Basics 

 
3 Tech Comp 

ADC 136 - Construction Safety and Building Codes 
 

3 
 ENGL 101 - English Composition I 

 
3 ENGL 101 

MATH 137 Geometry for Design (or higher MATH1) 
 

3 Math 

    Second Semester 
   ADC 112 - Construction Materials & Detailing: Principles ADC 103 or ADC 109 3 

 ADC 146 - Construction Supervision & Business Practices ADC 101 3 
 ADC 186 - Surveying ADC 101 3 
 ADC 286 - Building Rehabilitation and Energy Retrofit ADC 101 3 
 ENG 102 - The Research Paper ENGL 101 with a grade of “C” or better 3 Info Lit 

    Third Semester 
   ADC 163 - Digital Documentation in Architecture & Construction ADC 103 3 

 ADC 226 - Structures I ADC 101 & MATH 118 or higher 3 
 ADC 236 - Construction Cost Estimating I ADC 101 3 
 ADC 246 - Contracts and Specifications ADC 101 3 
 Social Science Elective1 

 
3 Social Sciences 

Humanities Elective1 
 

3 Humanities 

    Fourth Semester 
   ADC 212 - Construction Materials & Detailing: Methods ADC 103 or ADC 109 3 

 ADC 227 - Structures II ADC 226 3 
 ADC 237 - Construction Cost Estimating II - Computer Methods 

& Cost/Benefit Analysis ADC 236 3 
 ADC 261 - Construction Management and Scheduling ADC 246 3 
 Science Elective 

 
3 or 4 Natural Science 

Minimum Credits Needed to Graduate: 
 

63 
 

33



C. Curriculum Map  
Construction Management Program 
Student Learning Outcomes 

AD
C 

10
1 

AD
C 

10
3 

AD
C 

11
2 

AD
C 

13
6 

AD
C 

14
6 

AD
C 

16
3 

AD
C 

18
6 

AD
C 

21
2 

AD
C 

22
6 

AD
C 

22
7 

AD
C 

23
6 

AD
C 

23
7 

AD
C 

24
6 

AD
C 

26
1 

AD
C 

28
6 

Interpret and produce property surveys. I R   R R M A         

Interpret and produce structural drawings 
and details. 
 

I  R R   R  R  M A M A      

Plan building renovation projects. I R R R  R  R  R   R R R M A 

Organize and run an independent 
construction business. 
 

I   R M A  R    R R R R R 

Interpret architectural and construction 
drawings and documents, demonstrating 
knowledge of various building materials and 
methods and related building technologies.  
 

I  I R   M A R R R R R R    

Utilize computer systems for project planning 
and management and to produce estimates 
of probable construction cost, including 
analysis of costs and benefits. 
 

I I   R  R     R M A M  M  

Investigate and resolve problems in 
construction planning, scheduling and 
management.  
 

I    R        M A M A R 

Provide leadership in creating and 
maintaining a safe working environment. 

I   R 
A 

R        R   R 

34



D. Future Direction for the Field/ Program  
Current and future development in the Construction Management field revolves around 
three themes:  (1) integration of Sustainability/Green practices  in construction and 
demolition operations, (2) integration of computer technology in coordination of 
scheduling, cost accounting, and reporting, and (3) integration of construction 
techniques designed to improve quality and safety while reducing construction time, 
waste, and cost. 
 

III. Profile of the Faculty 
A. Program Faculty  

Faculty Position Recent Courses Taught 
Miles Grosbard, Ed. D., M. Arch Department Chair  

Professor 
ADC 209, ADC 259, ADC 176,  

Arthur E Wolf, MS, MBA Program Supervisor 
Visiting Lecturer 

 

Paula Behrens, M. Arch. Professor ADC 109, ADC 112 
Anthony Palimore, M. Arch. Assistant Professor ADC 103, ADC 254 
Michael Stern, M. Arch. Assistant Professor ADC 159, ADC 192, ADC 260, 

ADC 212 
David Bertram, M. Arch. Instructor ADC 103, ADC 227, ADC 237, 

ADC 163, ADC 101 
David Tinley, M. Arch Adjunct  ADC 136, ADC 146, ADC 186 
Elizabeth Masters, M. Arch, AIA Adjunct ADC 112 

 
B. Faculty Engagement  

In an increasingly interconnected world, faculty members have been participants in 
some of the College’s Center for International Understanding initiatives. Over the past 
three years, one faculty member has been selected for two National Endowment for the 
Humanities “Bridging Cultures” Initiatives, one on East Asia and the second on South 
Asia. Faculty members have made presentations to students and fellow faculty while 
integrating lessons learned into the department’s courses. Another faculty member was 
selected to participate in the Department of Education grant on East Asia for the 2014-
15 academic year. These initiatives reflect the rich diversity of the department’s 
students and the College’s mission statement. 
 
Full-time faculty members have been actively developing their skills by engaging with 
the larger community. In developing the new course “Philadelphia History: Architecture 
and Planning,” created in collaboration with the History, Philosophy, and Religious 
Studies Department, faculty have engaged with the history and historic preservation 
communities of Philadelphia. Another faculty member has completed training in 
Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED), a central concern in 
sustainability and construction. Part-time faculty members are active professionals and 
members of the American Institute of Architects (AIA). One is president-elect of the 
Pennsylvania AIA chapter, while two others having thriving architectural practices: all 
energize the classroom. One part-time faculty member also teaches in the Facilities 
Management program at Temple University, forming a “bridge” to that program.  The 

35



faculty member is also a member of the International Facilities Management 
Association. 
 

IV. Program Characteristics 
A. Student Profile  

Enrollment in the Construction Management Program averaged 76 students over the 
last five years and is on an upward trend. From 2009 to 2013 enrollment increased by 
35%. During the same time period, enrollment in the Division decreased and enrollment 
in the College remained flat.   
 
Table 1: Headcounts 

  
  Fall 

2009 
Fall 

2010 
Fall 

2011 
Fall 

2012 
Fall 

2013 
5 Year 

Average 
5 Year 

Change 
Construction 

Management* 
Headcount 66 72 79 76 89         76  35% 
FTE Headcount 47 53 50 52 64         53  36% 

Liberal Studies Headcount 8892 8711 8717 8216 8059      8,519  -9% 
FTE Headcount 6313 6175 6137 5745 5649      6,004  -11% 

College Headcount 19047 19502 19752 18951 19065     19,263  0% 
FTE Headcount 13361 13697 13682 13106 13163     13,402  -1% 

*These numbers include the students remaining in the Construction Technology Program, which closed in 2006 but 
still has at least 7 students enrolled in it.  

 
The Construction Management Program enrolls students with similar demographics as 
the Division and the College in terms of race/ ethnicity and full-time status; however, 
differences exist in gender, age, and college level. The program enrolls more than 
double the proportion of males compared to the Division and the College; however, 
over 90% of construction managers are male. The Program enrolls a much lower 
proportion of students ages 16 to 21. The Program enrolls less students that place at 
college level, and a higher proportion of students that place in all developmental 
courses.  
 

36



 
Table 2: Demographics 

Demographics: Running 5 Year Average 

  
Construction 
Management 

Liberal 
Studies College 

Female 12.6% 62.0% 64.2% 
Male 87.1% 37.5% 35.4% 

Unknown 0.3% 0.5% 0.5% 
        

Native American 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 
Asian 6.9% 5.0% 7.2% 

African American 49.5% 49.9% 48.6% 
Latino/a 6.7% 5.7% 5.4% 

White 29.0% 25.0% 24.9% 
Other 2.0% 3.4% 3.4% 

Unknown 5.4% 10.3% 9.9% 
        

16 – 21 19% 32.7% 32.5% 
22 – 29 36% 35.1% 36.6% 
30 – 39 20% 15.4% 17.0% 

40 + 24% 15.8% 13.0% 
Unknown 0% 0.9% 0.9% 

        
Full Time 32.3% 33.9% 31.2% 

Part Time 67.7% 66.1% 68.8% 
        

All Developmental 36.3% 29.3% 28.3% 
Some Developmental 45.5% 47.3% 43.9% 

College Level 18.2% 23.5% 27.8% 
 
The Construction Management Program records outcomes similar to that of the College 
in many areas; however, stronger outcomes are recorded in academic standing, course 
completion, and GPA. The Program records similar rates of retention (fall-fall and fall- 
spring) within the Program and a lower proportion of students changing majors 
compared to the Division and the College. Graduation rates similar to that of the College 
and the Division are recorded.  

37



 
 
Table 3: Outcomes Data: 5 Year Averages 

    
Construction 
Management 

Liberal 
Studies College 

Standing 
Good Standing 89.2% 83.7% 85.0% 
Probation 10.5% 14.6% 13.5% 
Dropped 0.3% 1.6% 1.6% 

          

Fall-Spring 
Retention 

Returned/Same 66.2% 64.4% 65.8% 
Returned/Different 6.0% 6.4% 5.2% 
Graduated 2.9% 2.4% 2.1% 
Did Not Return 24.9% 26.8% 26.9% 

          

Fall-Fall 
Retention 

Returned/Same 37.9% 35.9% 36.7% 
Returned/Different 5.2% 9.7% 8.6% 
Graduated 10.0% 8.5% 8.4% 
Did Not Return 46.9% 45.9% 46.4% 

          

Success at 
Departure 

Graduated 11.8% 10.5% 10.0% 
Long Term Success 39.7% 37.3% 36.2% 
Short Term Success 18.5% 14.3% 17.2% 
Unsuccessful 30.0% 37.9% 36.6% 

          
Course 

Outcomes 
Course Completion 91% 87.4% 88.2% 
GPA 2.90 2.66 2.65 

 

38



 
Transfer and Graduation 

 

Figure 2: Degrees Awarded 

 

 

 

39



 
 

Table 4: Degrees Awarded 
  2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Total 
Construction Management 2 2 6 4 4 18 
Liberal Studies 1158 956 1014 1073 999 5200 
College 2125 1908 1949 2101 2039 10122 

 
Construction Management is an A.A.S. and, therefore, the focus of this program is 
direct-to-work as opposed to transfer. However, between 2007 and 2012, 21% of 
students (count of 28) that departed the program transferred.  Approximately 60% of 
Construction Management students who graduated transferred.   
 
Figure 3: Transfer at Departure 

 
 
The College and Division record an almost equal number of freshmen as sophomores. 
However, within the Construction Management Program, there are 13% more 
sophomores than freshmen. This could be explained by a high proportion of students 
transferring into the program or by students entering the program with credits or prior 
learning. 
 
 

40



 
Figure 3: Distribution of Students in Program 

 
 
   

Table 5: Median Statistics for Program Graduates  

  
Construction 
Management 

Liberal 
Studies College 

Number of Respondents 11 2496 5878 
Years to Degree 5.7 4.8 4.7 
Credits Attempted 103 83 85 
Credits Earned 76 66 68 

Credits Attempted/ Credits Earned 136% 126% 125% 

GPA 3.17 3.05 3.08 
 
On average, the Architecture, Design and Construction Department runs approximately 
28 sections in the fall and 30 sections in the spring, with average enrollments of 
approximately 20 students during the fall and spring semesters. On average, fall sections 
are at 71% of capacity and spring sections run at 73% of capacity.  These capacities are 
12% lower than the Division (14% lower than the College) in the fall and 10% lower than 
the Division (11% lower than the College) in the spring.    
 
These courses are housed in the Architecture, Design, and Construction Department. 
Along with Construction Management A.A.S., this department houses Facilities 
Management Construction and Facilities Management Design, Computer Assisted 
Design A.A.S, Architecture A.A., Interior Design A.A., and Building Science A.A.S. Many of 
the courses are shared among some or all of the disciplines.  These programs generally 
require approximately 20 to 22 courses to obtain the degree, which include six general 
education requirements and 14 to 16 program specific courses.  Facilities Management 

41



Construction, Facilities Management Design, Construction Management, Computer 
Assisted Design, and Building Science all require the same six general education 
requirements, while architecture requires a different mathematics course.    

• Construction Management and Facilities Management Construction share 14 
courses. 

• Construction Management and Facilities Management Design share 11 courses. 
• Construction Management and Computer Assisted Design share between 10 

and 16 courses. 
• Construction Management and Architecture share 10 courses. 
• Construction Management and Interior Design share between eight and 11 

courses. 
• Construction Management and Building Science share 16 courses.   

 
This audit highlights the overlapping courses of the associates degrees offered in the 
ADC Department.    

42



Table 6: Section Enrollments 
 

  
Architecture, Design and 
Construction                     

    Fall 
2008 

Spring 
2009 

Fall 
2009 

Spring 
2010 

Fall 
2010 

Spring 
2011 

Fall 
2011 

Spring 
2012 

Fall 
2012 

Spring 
2013 

Fall 
Average 

Spring 
Average 

Program 
Sections 24 27 28 32 36 35 28 31 24 28 28.00 30.60 
Avg Enrollment 21.54 20.26 20.79 21.13 18.72 18.94 19.21 21.71 18.92 19.71 19.84 20.35 
Percent Filled 77% 72% 73% 76% 69% 69% 69% 74% 68% 73% 71% 73% 

 Sections 1439 1518 1549 1673 1666 1662 1620 1646 1473 1464 1549.40 1592.60 
Division Avg Enrollment 20.22 20.65 21.55 21.31 20.81 21.23 20.75 20.72 21.45 21.29 20.96 21.04 

 Percent Filled 81% 82% 86% 86% 83% 84% 82% 81% 84% 82% 83% 83% 

 Sections 2694 2829 2881 3096 3023 2940 2939 3007 2756 2738 2858.60 2922.00 
College Avg Enrollment 21.15 21.22 22.29 21.97 21.87 22.13 21.84 21.63 22.23 22.06 21.88 21.80 

  Percent Filled 83% 83% 87% 86% 85% 85% 84% 83% 86% 84% 85% 84% 

43



V. Learning Outcomes and Assessment 
A. Student Learning Outcomes 

Upon completion of the Construction Management program graduates will be able to: 
1. Interpret and produce property surveys. 
2. Interpret and produce structural drawings and details. 
3. Plan building renovation projects. 
4. Organize and run an independent construction business. 
5. Interpret architectural and construction drawings and documents, demonstrating 

knowledge of various building materials and methods and related building technologies. 
6. Utilize computer systems for project planning and management and to produce 

estimates of probable construction cost, including analysis of costs and benefits. 
7. Investigate and resolve problems in construction planning, scheduling and management. 
8. Provide leadership in creating and maintaining a safe working environment. 
Construction Management shares four Student Learning Outcomes with Building Science 
and three SLOs with Energy Conservation.  
 
B. Assessment 

Information on all program level student learning outcomes for Construction 
Management has been uploaded into SharePoint. The Program assessed all eight of the 
PLOs and uploaded the information into SharePoint. All eight outcomes met the 
benchmarks of 65% of students achieving a good or excellent score on the assignment.  
 
One issue is a lack of continuity in the documents that indicate what courses feed into 
the outcomes. There are three different areas of SharePoint that identify courses 
assessed for each outcome. However, there is often a misalignment between the three 
documents regarding which courses feed into which outcomes. For example, the last 
outcome lists assessment occurring in different courses in the SharePoint Program Level 
Assessment page (136), curriculum map (ADC 136), and the uploaded Program Level SLO 
Summary in the SharePoint (ADC 146). Either changes need to be made to the 
curriculum map or changes need to be made regarding which courses are assessed.  
 
Additionally, looking at the sources of evidence in SharePoint, it is unclear which sources 
of evidence and rubrics are being used to assess each outcome.   
 

C. Closing the Loop 
The department concluded that because all eight outcomes met the benchmarks, no 
immediate actions are being taken and the outcomes will continue to be monitored. 
Although the Program met all benchmarks, taking ‘no immediate action’ is not a 
sufficient closing the loop activity. When a department greatly surpasses all 
benchmarks, they must evaluate the processes. For example, the department could 
evaluate the benchmark threshold, assignment, and rubrics.  Additionally, there is no 
calendar for future assessments. 
 
 

44



 

Table 7: Timeline for Course Learning Outcomes 
Evidence 
Collected 

Course 

Fall 2011 ADC 101, ADC 103, ADC 112, ADC 163, ADC 186, ADC 212, 
ADC 226, ADC 246 

Spring 2012 ACD 136, ADC 227, ADC 261 
Fall 2012 ADC 236,  
Spring 2013 ADC 146, ADC 237, ADC286 
Fall 2013  
Spring 2014  
Fall 2014  
Spring 2015  
Fall 2015  
 

D. QVIs/335s  
The Program is up-to-date on all Act 335s. QVIs for the program from 2013 through 
2014 were evaluated for this audit. QVI’s were not performed in 2012 because the 
Program was originally scheduled for audit in 2012, and QVI’s are not performed during 
audit years. The QVI scores reflect the program quality and viability at a specific point in 
time. Although certain areas may have changed since the Program was scored, scores 
from the past remain on record.  
 
The Program recorded a quality score of four in 2013; by 2014 the score had dropped to 
two. The decrease in score can be explained by the lack of documentation relating to 
assessment of program level student learning outcomes. Over the same time period, the 
Program experienced an increase in viability from one to 2.4. The increase can be 
attributed to increases in graduation rates, fall-spring retention, and degrees awarded. 
It must be noted that any fluctuations in low enrollment programs may appear 
deceptively large when percentages are calculated.  
 

E. Surveys 
An insufficient number of Construction Management students have responded to the 
graduate survey to make valid inferences from the data.  
 

F. Advisory Committee  
The Program’s advisory committee meets once annually.  Recent meetings have 
included between two and three members of industry and one to three faculty 
members from local colleges and universities. Recent discussions have focused on 
creating an enrollment management plan, academic performance, Perkin’s funding, 
internships, alumni survey, the employment environment, the Construction Technology 
Program, course modifications, the Building Science program, software, and articulation 
agreements.  

45



 
 

VI. Resources  
The ADC department has a suite of rooms in W2-1 which, in addition to faculty offices, 
contains the following: 
• A Design Studio for studio courses, augmented with computer access for research and 

visual presentations.  
• A computer lab in which computer graphics courses are held.  
• A computer lab in which other content courses are held.  
• A presentation work space area for students to work in when class is not in session, and 

for final presentations.  
The Department also uses a range of industry standard software including AutoDesk 
products (AutoCAD, REVIT), Adobe products (InDesign, Photoshop, Illustrator), SketchUP 
and WinEST. This software is purchase is supported through Perkins Local Plan funding for 
career programs. 
 

VII. Demand  
CCP’s Construction Management Program trains students to enter a variety of occupations. 
Cost estimator, construction manager, surveyor, and construction and building inspector are 
common occupations entered into by program graduates.  Locally, occupations in cost 
estimating and construction management are projected to grow more rapidly over the next 
ten years than the nationwide average job growth of 11%. Nationally, little growth is 
anticipated in surveying, construction, and building inspection.  
 
Compared to occupations in surveying where employees may have extensive education, 
occupations in cost estimation, construction management, and construction and building 
inspection are more likely to be filled by individuals with an associate’s degree or some 
college coursework.  According to the Bureau of Labor and Statistics, it is increasingly 
important for construction managers to have a bachelor’s degree in construction science, 
construction management, architecture, or engineering. As construction processes become 
more complex, employers are placing greater importance on specialized education. 
 
The Philadelphia region is currently experiencing a boom in building construction activity.  
The boom is the result of a convergence of many factors, the most salient of which are low 
interest rates and pent up demand following the recession.   At the time of this writing 
(March 2015), there are no fewer than 20 major construction projects underway in the 
Center City district alone. 
 

 
Table 8a: Expected Job Growth 

  2014-2024 Job Outlook     
Occupation Philadelphia MSA USA   Av. Hourly Salary 
Cost Estimator 11.10% 13.70% 20.60%   $28.59  
Construction Managers 19.90% 22.30% 19.60%   $40.58  
Surveyor -1.80% 1.40% 10.10%   $27.21  
Construction & Building Inspector -0.60% 2.80% 12.00%   $26.18  

 

46



 

Table 8b: Educational Attainment 

 
National Education Attainment 

Occupation 
HS Diploma or 

Less 
Some 

College Associate's Bachelor's Graduate  
Cost Estimator 26.20% 28.70% 11.60% 28.40% 5.00% 
Construction Managers 33.60% 25.00% 7.70% 27.50% 6.10% 
Surveyor 0.30% 11.20% 7.90% 65.10% 15.50% 
Construction & Building Inspector 28.40% 32.40% 12.50% 21.40% 5.30% 

 
Locally, three colleges in the area (Drexel University, Temple University, and Philadelphia 
University) offer programs in Construction Management, offering a certificate, associates, 
bachelors, masters, and doctorate; additionally, Delaware County Community College offers 
an associate’s degree and certificate in Construction Management. Although transfer 
opportunities exist for the College’s students, no transfer agreements are listed on the 
transfer page of the College’s website. 
 
In its current form, the Program cannot develop articulation agreements with any local 
colleges due to the rigorous curricula in these schools.  Drexel, Temple, and Philadelphia 
University’s Programs are housed within the architecture or engineering departments.  All 
three programs require students to take some combination of courses in pre-calculus, 
calculus, differential equations, chemistry, physics, business, and/ or engineering during the 
first two years of the program.  Major changes would need to be made to the curriculum for 
the program to pursue program to program articulation agreements with local schools.  
However, in draft course equivalency agreements mentioned by faculty, Temple University 
and Philadelphia University are able to accept 100% of CCP a student’s credits. Drexel 
University, due to a University-wide policy that does not allow for a program to accept 
another college’s lower level course for one that is a higher level at Drexel, is not able to 
accept approximately (5) courses from CCP’s Construction Management curriculum.  
 

VIII. Operating Costs 
No operating cost data was available prior to the 2009-2010 school year. Over the past four 
years, the Program’s operating costs exceeded the average operating costs for the College 
by between 9 (2012-2013) and 27 percent (2010-2011).  

47



 
IX. Findings & 

Recommendations 
1. Contact all students 

from Construction Technology into Construction Management 
In 2006, the Construction Technology Program closed and the Construction 
Management Program opened.  Ideally, all students in the Construction Technology 
program were supposed to complete the CT Degree or transfer to the Construction 
Management Program.  All new students were supposed to enroll in Construction 
Management.  Seven students are enrolled in courses this semester as Construction 
Technology students. These students must complete a change of major form this 
semester.  The Office of Assessment and Evaluation can provide the Department with a 
list of students enrolled in Construction Technology.  

Timeline: Spring 2015  
Responsible Persons: Program Faculty 

 
2. Assessment 

The curriculum map identifies 10 areas in which program level outcomes are assessed.  
While it is clear that assessment is occurring, the documents in SharePoint indicate that 
half the student learning outcomes are assessed in different courses than indicated on 
the curriculum map. Overall, the Program must increase transparency in the assessment 
process, including posting rubrics, clearly outlining which assignments from the courses 
feed into the outcomes and how the scores are calculated, and using independent 
measures for each outcome.  Additionally, the Program needs to evaluate the 
benchmarks and create closing the loop activities.   
 Timeline: Summer 2015 
 Responsible Persons: Program Faculty 
  

3. The department should 
create a program to accommodate students from the Construction Management, 
Facilities Management Design, Facilities Management Construction, and Computer 
Assisted Design students (and possibly Building Science).   

48



The programs within the department have major overlaps in jobs, courses, and 
outcomes.1 In a survey of programs at the two and four year level, many schools had 
programs in one of these areas, but none had as many as CCP. Additionally, in many of 
these programs at the four year level; the first two years were largely the same courses. 
The markets (education and employment) do not appear to need the fine-grained 
divisions among disciplines at the two year level offered here. While those with more 
education and/or experience may find, eventually, that there are specializations within 
the field; these divisions do not exist at the undergraduate level. A single AAS program 
would suffice, perhaps with options presented for students based on their interests, in a 
model similar to the Justice Program. The above is only one proposal; the department 
may wish to present an alternative plan for consolidation. 

Provide Alternative Plan 
Timeline: June 2015 
Persons Responsible: Department Head 

Program Created to Accommodate other ADC Students 
Timeline: Fall 2015  
Persons Responsible: Department Head, Program Faculty, Dean of 
Liberal Studies 

 
4. Create a program management plan 

Once the department has agreed upon a solution to recommendation 3 (above), they 
must develop a program management plan that address low course enrollment, the 
disproportionate rate of sophomores’ progression through the program, and high 
operating costs.  Currently the Construction Management Program is composed of a 
high proportion of older students with strong outcomes while the Facilities 
Management programs are composed of a high proportion of younger students with 
weaker outcomes.  The program management plan must provide a framework for 
combing these programs and achieving results in these two populations.  
 Timeline: Spring 2016 
 Persons Responsible: Program Faculty, Department Head  

                                                           
1 The department interprets this differently, in terms of efficiency rather than redundancy. “This [overlap] allows 
us to retain students when they change programs, as is common in undergraduate education. Often students will 
begin on one path and in the course of their education learn that the construction side of our industry appeals 
more to them than the design side- or vice-versa. We retain the student and the student does not lose much 
ground in term of time and coursework. … The divisions of architecture, interior design, construction management, 
facilities management, and building science most certainly do exist at the undergraduate level. While there is 
overlapping subject matter, each profession is unique and therefore requires a unique education path.”  

 

 

49



Community College of Philadelphia 
 

Academic Program Audit 
 

Facilities Management-Construction A.A.S. 
Facilities Management-Design A.A.S. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Authors: 
Christine McDonnell 

John V. Moore III 
 

Contributors: 
Miles Grosbard 

 
 

Date: April 2015 

50



 

I. Executive Summary  
CCP offers two associates degrees in Facilities Management: Facilities Management Construction 
A.A.S. (FAMC) and Facilities Management Design A.A.S (FAMD). The Facility Management 
Construction Option is designed to prepare students for entry-level positions as a facility managers 
or construction managers. The Design Option is intended to prepare graduates for entry-level 
positions as facility managers, space programmers, or move coordinators. Both Facilities 
Management Programs have existed at the College since 2008 and have been accredited by the 
International Facilities Management Association Foundation since 2010; it one of the few two year 
programs in the world to have this accreditation. Both Programs underwent revisions in the fall of 
2013.  
 
Both Programs have at least doubled their enrollments over the past five years, with enrollment in 
Construction averaging 17 students per fall semester, and Design averaging 6 students per fall 
semester. The Programs enroll a higher proportion of males than the Division and the College and 
more than half the students in the Programs are over the age of 30.  
 
Both Programs record stronger outcomes than the Division and the College in terms of academic 
standing, fall-fall retention, success at departure, and course completion. Both Programs also enroll 
a lower proportion of college ready students than the Division and the College. The Construction 
Program has awarded 15 degrees in the past five years, while the Design program has awarded 6 
degrees in the same time period.  
 
Sections within the Architecture, Design, and Construction Department run less efficiently than the 
Division and the College. The Department offers nine programs, which share 29 courses. Within the 
two Facilities Management Programs, 16 of the 20 required courses overlap. Additionally, 
considerable overlap exists between all of the Programs in the Department.  
 
Each Program has five Student Learning Outcomes, two of which are shared among the two 
Facilities Management Programs. Three outcomes are shared with Architecture, three outcomes are 
shared with Computer Assisted Design (Degree and Certificate), and three outcomes are shared with 
Interior Design. Facilities Management-Construction is up-to-date on program level assessment; 
Faculties Management Design has assessed four out of five Program Level Outcomes. Both Programs 
require additional documentation to be uploaded into SharePoint, including rubrics and additional 
sources of evidence.    
 
Locally, one college offers a four year degree in Facilities Management and the program does not 
have any program to program articulation agreements but does have an informal course 
equivalency agreement. 
 
Due to the considerable overlap in student learning outcomes, courses, reporting (QVIs, operating 
cost data, advisory committees, and course catalogue descriptions) and career paths, we 
recommend that these programs be combined with the other AAS programs within the department.  
 
II. Program Description from College Catalog 
CCP offers two associates degrees in Facilities Management: Facilities Management Construction 
A.A.S. (FAMC) and Facilities Management Design A.A.S (FAMD). The Facility Management programs 

51



lead to an Associate of Applied Science (A.A.S.) degree in Facility Management. Facility Managers 
plan and manage the buildings, grounds and systems of large businesses and institutions. Often 
working behind the scenes, they are involved in a broad array of activities, including: planning, 
management, finance and real estate, design, and building operations issues, including security and 
communications. The Facility Management field is rapidly professionalizing, and opportunities 
abound in this highly-regarded industry. This program provides students with a foundational 
education addressing the multi-disciplinary character of the field, thereby allowing for diverse job 
opportunities. The core of the Facility Management curriculum lets students gain the basic technical 
knowledge of construction materials and processes and systems; business management and real 
estate are also addressed. The Design Option focuses specifically on developing planning and design 
skills for both new and renovated buildings. 
 
Construction 
The Facility Management – Construction Option is designed to prepare students for an entry-level 
position as a facility manager or construction manager. Their construction knowledge may be 
applied in overseeing the building of new or renovated facilities, the installation of updated systems, 
or determining the construction issues related to expansion or new uses. They will work closely with 
those in the design areas. In any of these roles, the students will be prepared to interact with the 
senior management of their employer and deal with multiple real estate issues. 
 
The Construction Option focuses on construction and management issues specific to the building 
and renovating process, such as the installation of updated systems and finishes, building codes, 
cost estimating, and scheduling and contracting. This program gives the student an opportunity to 
understand the fundamentals of building construction, such as interpreting construction documents 
and specifications, understanding construction contracts, creating construction cost estimates, 
scheduling and managing building projects, and being familiar with the technical aspects of building 
materials and systems. 
 
Design 
The Facility Management – Design Option is intended to prepare a graduate for an entry-level 
position as a facility manager, space programmer, and space planner or move coordinator. Their 
design skills will be utilized in designing renovations, planning expansions and supervising outside 
design consultants. They will work closely with those in construction. In any of these roles, the 
students will be prepared to interact with the senior management of their employer and deal with 
multiple real estate issues. 
 
The Design Option listed here gives the student an opportunity to acquire design skills to apply 
toward new and renovated buildings, as well as evaluating and planning development sites. 
Experience working in teams and communicating design concepts is emphasized. The design studio, 
the core learning environment in design education, offers the opportunity to develop design skills 
and understand the conceptual framework of the design process. 
 

A. History and Revisions to the Curriculum  
Both Facilities Management Programs have existed at the College since 2008 and have 
been accredited by the International Facilities Management Association Foundation 
since 2010. Only two other associates programs have this accreditation. Both Programs 
underwent revisions in the fall of 2013. The revisions included six changes that impacted 

52



both curricula.  Two changes were specifically for the Construction curriculum and four 
changes were specifically for the Design Curriculum.  
 
Both curricula replaced LEAD 104: Introduction to Leadership Studies with ADC 146: 
Construction Supervision and Business Practices. ADC 136: Construction Safety and 
Building Codes and ADC 254: Environmental Systems II were both changed from 
directed electives to required courses. ADC 212: Construction Materials and Detailing: 
Methods was deleted. The Social Science Elective was deleted because it is fulfilled 
through ECON 182- Microeconomics. The mathematics requirements for both curricula 
were changed from MATH 118 or higher to MATH 137: Geometry for Design or higher.  
 
The Construction Option changed ADC: 236 Construction Cost Estimating from a 
directed elective to a required course and deleted ADC 226: Structures I- Analysis, which 
is currently a directed elective.  
 
The Design Option changed ADC 160: Presentation Techniques and ADC 192: Color and 
Lighting from directed electives to required courses and deleted ADC 209: Design Studio 
III and ADC 163: Digital Documentation in Architecture and Construction.  
 
Made in 2013, these revisions were the first changes since accreditation. The revisions 
were made to the curricula to align the programs more directly with current industry 
needs. Revisions were made to the Design Option based on the recommendations of the 
visiting team.  The purpose of the recommendations was to increase the study of 
supervision and business practices in the construction industry.   

 
  

53



B. Curriculum Sequence - Facility Management - Construction Option  
Course Number and Name Pre & Co-requisites Credits Gen Ed Req. 
First Semester       

ADC 101 – Introduction to Design and Construction   3 Tech Comp* 
ADC 103 – CAD Basics   3 Tech Comp* 
ADC 136 – Construction Safety and Building Codes   3   
ENGL 101 – English Composition I   3 ENGL 101 
MATH 137 - Geometry for Design (or higher MATH1)   3 Mathematics 

Second Semester       
ADC 112 – Construction Materials and Detailing: Properties ADC 103 or ADC 109 3   
ADC 163 – Digital Documentation in Architecture and Construction ADC 103 3   
MNGT 121 – Introduction to Business   3   

ENGL 102 – The Research Paper 
ENGL 101 with a grade of 
“C” or better 3 Info Lit 

ECON 182 – Principles of Economics   3 Soc Sci 
Third Semester       

ADC 146 – Construction Supervision & Business Practices ADC 101 3   
ADC 236 – Construction Cost Estimating I ADC 101 3   
ADC 246 – Contracts and Specifications ADC 101 3   

ADC 253 – Environmental Systems I 
ADC 101 and ADC 103 or 
ADC 109 3   

Humanities Elective   3 Humanities 
Fourth Semester       

ADC 254 – Environmental Systems II ADC 253 3   
ADC 261 – Construction Management and Scheduling ADC 246 3   
RE 101 – Real Estate Fundamentals   3   
Management Elective Choose one: MNGT 121 3   

MNGT 141 –Principles of Management       
MNGT 142 – Management Information Systems       
MNGT 262 – Business Law       

Science Elective1   3 Natural Science 
Minimum Credits Needed to Graduate:   60   

54



B2. Curriculum Sequence - Facility Management - Design Option  
Course Number and Name Pre & Co-requisites Credits Gen Ed Req. 

First Semester       
ADC 101 – Introduction to Design and Construction   3 Tech Comp* 
ADC 103 – CAD Basics   3 Tech Comp* 
ADC 136 – Construction Safety and Building Codes   3   
ENGL 101 – English Composition I   3 ENGL 101 
MATH 137 - Geometry for Design (or higher MATH1)   3 Mathematics 

Second Semester       
ADC 109 - Design Studio I   4   
ADC 112 – Construction Materials and Detailing: Properties ADC 103 or ADC 109 3   
ENGL 102 – The Research Paper ENGL 101 with a grade of “C” or better 3 ENGL 102, Info Lit 
MNGT 121 – Introduction to Business   3   
ECON 182 - Principles of Economics (Microeconomics)   3 Social Sciences 

Third Semester       
ADC 146 - Construction Supervision & Business Practices ADC 101 3   
ADC 159 Design Studio II ADC 103 & ADC 109 4   
ADC 160 - Presentation Techniques ADC 103, ADC 109 3   
ADC 253 – Environmental Systems I ADC 101 and ADC 103 or ADC 109 3   
Humanities Elective   3 Humanities 

Fourth Semester       
ADC 192 - Color & Lighting ADC 101 3   
ADC 254 - Environmental Systems II ADC 253 3   
RE 101 – Real Estate Fundamentals   3   
Management Elective Choose One:   3   

MNGT 141 - Principles of Management MNGT 121     
MNGT 142 - Management Information Systems Management     
MNGT 262 - Business Law       

Science Elective1   3 or 4 Natural Science 
Minimum Credits Needed to Graduate:    62   

55



C. Curriculum Map- Facility Management - Construction  
 
Key: 
I – Introduced  R-Reinforced and opportunity to practice    M-Mastery at exit level     A-Assessment evidence collected 
Student Learning Outcomes 

AD
C 

 1
01

 

AD
C 

 1
03

 

AD
C 

 1
12

 

AD
C 

 1
36

 

AD
C 

 1
46

 

AD
C 

 1
63

 

AD
C 

 1
86

 

AD
C 

 2
53

 

AD
C 

 2
54

 

AD
C 

 2
36

 

AD
C 

 2
37

 

AD
C 

24
6 

AD
C 

26
1 

Interpret architectural and construction drawings and 
documents.  
 

I I I   R M 
A 

R R R M M  

Demonstrate knowledge of various building materials 
and methods and related building technologies.  
 

  I   R R R 
A 

M 
 A 

R M 
A 

M M 

Utilize computer systems for communication in 
technical drafting and documentation, project 
planning and management. 
 

 I R   M 
A 

R  R R R M 
A 

M 
A 

M 
A 

Apply basic principles of planning, management and 
real estate practice.  
 

I I  R R 
 

 R  R R R M 
A 

M 
A 

Communicate effectively and work as part of a team, 
using graphic, oral and written modes. 
 

I  I  R  M A R R R R R  M 
A 

 
   
 
 
 
 
 

56



    C2. Curriculum Map- Facilities Management-Design  
Key: 
I – Introduced  R-Reinforced and opportunity to practice    M-Mastery at exit level     A-Assessment evidence collected 
Student Learning Outcomes 

AD
C 

 1
01

 

AD
C 

 1
03

 

AD
C 

 1
09

 

AD
C 

 1
12

 

AD
C 

 1
36

 

AD
C 

 1
46

 

AD
C 

 1
86

 

AD
C 

 2
53

 

AD
C 

 2
54

 

AD
C 

 2
36

 

AD
C 

 1
59

 

AD
C 

 1
60

 

AD
C 

 2
09

 

Demonstrate an understanding of the design process 
by solving specific design problems, synthesizing and 
applying technical, historical, cultural and theoretical 
concepts.  
 

I I I R   M 
A 

R R R R R M 
A 

Develop design drawings and models utilizing 
freehand drawing and modeling, mechanical 
drawing, and computer drafting and modeling.  
 

I  I I R   R R R  R R M 
A 

Apply basic principles of planning, management and 
real estate practice.  

I I I  R R   R R R R  M 
A 

Demonstrate knowledge of various finish materials 
and methods, furnishings and related interior 
products.  
 

I    R  R    R  M 
A 

Communicate effectively and work as part of a team, 
using graphic, oral and written modes.  
 

I  I I R  R R R R  R R M 

 
 

57



D. Future Direction for the Field/ Program  
Facilities Management is a rapidly growing field for our students thanks to multiple 
factors. Because many current Facilities Managers are nearing retirement age, there is a 
need to plan for succession. The emergence of a four year program at Temple and 
offerings by other area schools also provides for a variety of educational paths within 
the College’s program, which is the oldest in the region recognized by the International 
Facilities Management Association (IFMA).  
 
The future of the field will include tighter integration of building management through 
the use of Building Information Modeling software, such as Revit. Even more critical will 
be Sustainability and Green Technologies practices, including minimizing the life cycle 
cost of building operation and environmental impact, and improving indoor 
environmental quality. The new Sustainable Facility Professional Certification, organized 
by IFMA, is one indication of the importance of these issues. 
 

III. Profile of the Faculty  
A. Program Faculty   

Faculty Position Recent Courses Taught 
Miles Grosbard, Ed. D., M. 
Arch 

Department Chair  
Professor 

ADC 209, ADC 259, ADC 176,  

Arthur E Wolf, MS, MBA Program Supervisor 
Visiting Lecturer 

 

Paula Behrens, M. Arch. Professor ADC 109, ADC 112 
Anthony Palimore, M. Arch. Assistant Professor ADC 103, ADC 254 
Michael Stern, M. Arch. Assistant Professor ADC 159, ADC 192, ADC 260, 

ADC 212 
David Bertram, M. Arch. Instructor ADC 103, ADC 227, ADC 237, 

ADC 163, ADC 101 
David Tinley, M. Arch Adjunct  ADC 136, ADC 146, ADC 186 
Elizabeth Masters, M. Arch, 
AIA 

Adjunct ADC 112 

 
B. Faculty Engagement  

In an increasingly interconnected world, faculty members have been participants in 
some of the College’s Center for International Understanding initiatives. Over the past 
three years, one faculty member has been selected for two National Endowment for the 
Humanities “Bridging Cultures” Initiatives, one on East Asia and the second on South 
Asia. Faculty members have made presentations to students and fellow faculty while 
integrating lessons learned into the department’s courses. Another faculty member was 
selected to participate in the Department of Education grant on East Asia for the 2014-
15 academic year. These initiatives reflect the rich diversity of the department’s 
students and the College’s mission statement. 
 
Full-time faculty members have been actively developing their skills by engaging with 
the larger community. In developing the new course “Philadelphia History: Architecture 
and Planning,” created in collaboration with the History department, faculty have 
engaged with the history and historic preservation communities of Philadelphia. 

58



Another ADC faculty member has completed training in Leadership in Energy and 
Environmental Design (LEED), a central concern in sustainability and construction. Part-
time faculty members are active professionals and members of the American Institute 
of Architects (AIA). One is president-elect of the Pennsylvania AIA chapter, while two 
others have thriving architectural practices. One part-time faculty member is a member 
of IFMA and also teaches in the Facilities Management program at Temple University, 
forming a “bridge” to that program. 
 

IV. Program Characteristics 
A. Student Profile  

Enrollment within the Facilities Management-Construction Program has increased by 
over 260% in the past five years, with an average headcount of approximately 17 
students per year. Enrollment within the Facilities Management-Design Program has 
increased by 200% over the same time period, with an average headcount of 
approximately 6 students per year.  
 
Table 1: Headcounts 
 

  
  Fall 

2009 
Fall 

2010 
Fall 

2011 
Fall 

2012 
Fall 

2013 
5 Year 

Average 
5 Year 

Change 
FM- 

Construction 
Headcount 8 9 18 23 29                 17  263% 
FTE Headcount 5 7 10 15 21                 12  320% 

FM- Design Headcount 2 4 8 8 6                   6  200% 
FTE Headcount 3 7 11 11 9                   8  200% 

Liberal Studies Headcount 8892 8711 8717 8216 8059           8,519  -9% 
FTE Headcount 6313 6175 6137 5745 5649           6,004  -11% 

College Headcount 19047 19502 19752 18951 19065        19,263  0% 
FTE Headcount 13361 13697 13682 13106 13163        13,402  -1% 

 
Construction 
Facilities Management-Construction enrolls students with similar demographics to the 
Division and the College in terms of race/ ethnicity and full-time status. Differences exist 
between the Program, Division, and College in terms of gender, age, and developmental 
status.  Approximately 83% of the students in the Program are males, which is more 
than double the percentage of males in the Division and the College. Approximately 1/3 
of the students in the Division and the College are ages 16-21, while only approximately 
9% of the students in Facilities Management-Construction students fall within that age 
group. Consequently, the program records a much higher proportion of students over 
the age of 30 than the Division and the College. Differences exist in the level of college 
readiness between the Program, Division, and College. A lower proportion of students in 
the Program are College ready compared to the Division and the College. Almost twice 
as many students in the Program place developmentally in all of their subjects 
compared to the Division and the College; consequently, the Program records a much 
lower rate of students placing developmentally in some subjects. Marginal differences 
exist in the race/ ethnicity percentages, with the exception of Latinos, who enroll in the 
Facilities Management-Construction Option at almost triple the rate of the Division and 
the College.  

59



 
Design 
The Design Option records similar demographic trends as the Construction Option in 
terms of gender, age, and full-time status. Differences exist in ethnicity/ race and level 
of college readiness. The Design Option records triple the proportion of Asian students 
relative to the Division and a marginally higher percentage of Caucasian students 
compared to the Division and the College. Additionally, the Design Option records a 
lower percentage of students placing at college level compared to the Construction 
Option, the Division, and the College.  Approximately 30% of students (Division and 
College-wide) place developmentally in all subjects, while approximately 40% of the 
Design Option students place developmentally in all subjects. A marginally lower 
proportion of students in the Design Program place developmentally in some subjects 
compared to the Division and the College.    
 
Table 2: Demographics 

Demographics: Running 5 Year Average 

  
FM- 

Construction 
FM- 

Design 
Liberal 
Studies College 

Female 16.0% 17.1% 62.0% 64.2% 
Male 82.9% 82.9% 37.5% 35.4% 

Unknown 1.1% 0.0% 0.5% 0.5% 
          

Native American 0.0% 0.0% 0.5% 0.5% 
Asian 4.7% 15.1% 5.0% 7.2% 

African American 51.2% 46.6% 49.9% 48.6% 
Latino/a 14.5% 2.7% 5.7% 5.4% 

White 20.3% 31.5% 25.0% 24.9% 
Other 1.7% 1.4% 3.4% 3.4% 

Unknown 7.6% 2.7% 10.3% 9.9% 
          

16 – 21 9.1% 7.3% 32.7% 32.5% 
22 – 29 34.6% 34.4% 35.1% 36.6% 
30 – 39 25.5% 23.3% 15.4% 17.0% 

40 + 29.6% 35.1% 15.8% 13.0% 
Unknown 1.3% 0.0% 0.9% 0.9% 

          
Full Time 27.6% 31.4% 33.9% 31.2% 

Part Time 72.4% 68.6% 66.1% 68.8% 
          

All Developmental 56.5% 41.7% 29.3% 28.3% 
Some Developmental 25.0% 41.7% 47.3% 43.9% 

College Level 18.5% 16.7% 23.5% 27.8% 

60



 
Construction 
Facilities Management-Construction records stronger outcomes than the Division and 
the College in terms of academic standing, fall-fall retention, success at departure, and 
course outcomes. A higher proportion of students in the Construction program are in 
good standing compared to the Division and the College. Fall-Fall retention is 
approximately 10% higher in the Construction Program compared to the Division and 
the College. A lower proportion of students change majors compared to the Division and 
the College. The graduation rate is approximately twice that of the Division and the 
College (graduation rate= percent of departed students who departed due to 
graduation). Ten percent fewer students were unsuccessful at departure compared to 
the Division and the College. Course completion and average GPA are higher in the 
Construction Program relative to the Division and the College.  
 
Design 
Facilities Management-Design records similar outcomes as the Construction Option. The 
Program records a high rate of students in good academic standing (approximately 96%) 
and a low rate of students on probation (approximately 4%). Fall-fall retention is higher 
than the Division and the College. However, between the fall and the spring, 
approximately twice the percentage of students in the program change majors 
compared to the College. It is unclear at the present time whether these students are 
transferring into other programs within the department or into unrelated programs. The 
graduation rate of the Program is almost quadruple that of the Division and the College, 
with approximately 37% of those departing the Program doing so with a degree. 
Approximately 37% of students also leave the College achieving unsuccessfully.  
 

61



 
Table 3: Outcomes Data: 5 Year Averages 

    
FM- 

Construction 
FM- 

Design LS College 

Standing 
Good Standing 92.1% 96.0% 83.7% 85.0% 
Probation 7.4% 4.0% 14.6% 13.5% 
Dropped 0.4% 0.0% 1.6% 1.6% 

            

Fall-Spring 
Retention 

Returned/Same 64.0% 71.3% 64.4% 65.8% 
Returned/Different 4.8% 10.7% 6.4% 5.2% 
Graduated 5.7% 5.9% 2.4% 2.1% 
Did Not Return 25.5% 12.1% 26.8% 26.9% 

            

Fall-Fall 
Retention 

Returned/Same 44.5% 48.7% 35.9% 36.7% 
Returned/Different 5.9% 7.3% 9.7% 8.6% 
Graduated 16.5% 13.3% 8.5% 8.4% 
Did Not Return 33.1% 30.8% 45.9% 46.4% 

            

Success at 
Departure 

Graduated 19.5% 37.5% 10.5% 10.0% 
Long Term Success 36.1% 25.0% 37.3% 36.2% 
Short Term Success 16.7% 0.0% 14.3% 17.2% 
Unsuccessful 27.8% 37.5% 37.9% 36.6% 

            
Course 

Outcomes 
Course Completion 94% 97% 87.4% 88.2% 
GPA 2.95 3.09 2.66 2.65 

 
Transfer by Departure Status 
Between 2007 and 2013, 25 students left the program, eight of whom transferred 
(32%).   
 

62



 
Figure 1: Degrees Awarded 

 

 

 
 
Table 4: Degrees Awarded 

  2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Total 
FM- Construction 0 2 3 6 4 15 
FM- Design 0 0 2 2 2 6 
Liberal Studies 1158 956 1014 1073 999 5200 

63



College 2125 1908 1949 2101 2039 10122 
 
Figure 3: Distribution of Students in Program 

 
 

On average, the Architecture/ Design/ Construction Department runs approximately 28 
sections in the fall and 30 sections in the spring, with average enrollments of 
approximately 20 students during the fall and spring semesters. On average, fall sections 
run at 71% of capacity and spring sections run at 73% of capacity. These capacities are 
12% lower than the Division (14% lower than the College) in the fall and 10% lower than 
the Division (11% lower than the College) in the spring.   

 
These courses are housed in the Architecture, Design, and Construction Department. 
Along with Facilities Management Construction and Facilities Management Design, this 
department houses Construction Management A.A.S., Computer Assisted Design A.A.S, 
Architecture A.A., Interior Design A.A., and Building Science A.A.S. Many of the courses 
are shared among some or all of the disciplines. These programs generally require 
approximately 20 courses to obtain the degree, which include six general education 
requirements and 14 program specific courses. Facilities Management Construction, 
Facilities Management Design, Construction Management, Computer Assisted Design, 
and Building Science all require the same general education requirements, while 
Architecture requires a different mathematics course.   

• Facilities Management Construction and Facilities Management Design share 16 
courses 

• Computer Assisted Design and Facilities Management Construct share anywhere 
from 12 to 16 courses 

• Computer Assisted Design and Facilities Management Design share 12 to 15 
courses 

• Facilitates Management Construction and Construction Management share 15 
courses 

• Construction Management and Computer Assisted Design share 11 to 17 
courses 

This audit highlights the overlapping qualities of the associates degrees offered in this 
department.   

64



Table 6: Course Enrollments 
Architecture/Design/Construction                     

  Fall 
2008 

Spring 
2009 

Fall 
2009 

Spring 
2010 

Fall 
2010 

Spring 
2011 

Fall 
2011 

Spring 
2012 

Fall 
2012 

Spring 
2013 

Fall 
Average 

Spring 
Average 

Sections 24 27 28 32 36 35 28 31 24 28 28.00 30.60 
Avg Enrollment 21.54 20.26 20.79 21.13 18.72 18.94 19.21 21.71 18.92 19.71 19.84 20.35 
Percent Filled 77% 72% 73% 76% 69% 69% 69% 74% 68% 73% 71% 73% 
Sections 1439 1518 1549 1673 1666 1662 1620 1646 1473 1464 1549.40 1592.60 
Avg Enrollment 20.22 20.65 21.55 21.31 20.81 21.23 20.75 20.72 21.45 21.29 20.96 21.04 
Percent Filled 81% 82% 86% 86% 83% 84% 82% 81% 84% 82% 83% 83% 
Sections 2694 2829 2881 3096 3023 2940 2939 3007 2756 2738 2858.60 2922.00 
Avg Enrollment 21.15 21.22 22.29 21.97 21.87 22.13 21.84 21.63 22.23 22.06 21.88 21.80 
Percent Filled 83% 83% 87% 86% 85% 85% 84% 83% 86% 84% 85% 84% 

 

65



 
V. Learning Outcomes and Assessment 

A. Student Learning Outcomes 
Upon completion of the Facilities Management-Construction Program, graduates will be 
able to: 

1. Interpret architectural and construction drawings and documents. 
2. Demonstrate knowledge of various building materials and methods and related 

building technologies. 
3. Utilize computer systems for communication in technical drafting and 

documentation, project planning and management. 
4. Apply basic principles of planning, management and real estate practice. 
5. Communicate effectively and work as part of a team, using graphic, oral and 

written modes. 
 

Upon completion of Facilities Management-Design Program graduates will be able to: 
1. Demonstrate an understanding of the design process by solving specific design 

problems, synthesizing and applying technical, historical, cultural and 
theoretical concepts. 

2. Develop design drawings and models utilizing freehand drawing and modeling, 
mechanical drawing, and computer drafting and modeling. 

3. Apply basic principles of planning, management and real estate practice. 
4. Demonstrate knowledge of various finish materials and methods, furnishings 

and related interior products. 
5. Communicate effectively and work as part of a team, using graphic, oral and 

written modes. 
 

Although two different programs, they share two outcomes with each other and share 
three outcomes with Architecture, three outcomes with Computer Assisted Design 
(Degree and Certificate), and three outcomes with Interior Design.  

 
B. Assessment 

Construction 
Facilities Management-Construction is up to date on all Program Level Student Learning 
Outcomes. The Program assessed all five of the PLOs and uploaded the information into 
SharePoint. All five outcomes met the benchmark of 65% of students achieving a good 
or excellent score on assessments.  
 
One issue is a lack of continuity in the documents that indicate what courses feed into 
the outcomes. There are three different areas of SharePoint that identify courses 
assessed for each outcome. However, here is often a misalignment between the three 
documents regarding which courses feed into which outcomes. For example, the first 
outcome lists assessment occurring in different courses in the SharePoint (ADC 237, ADC 
246), curriculum map (ADC 186), and the uploaded documents in the SharePoint (ADC 
254).  
 
Additionally, looking at the sources of evidence in SharePoint, it is unclear which sources 
of evidence and rubrics are used to assess each outcome.   
 

66



Design 
Facilities Management Design has assessed four out of five of the PLOs and uploaded 
information into SharePoint. The benchmark for each outcome was 65% and each 
outcome exceeded the benchmark by scoring 78%. Rubrics were not included in the 
SharePoint; however, it appears as if all four outcomes use the same rubric and 
assignments for independent outcomes.  
 

C. Closing the Loop Activities 
Construction 
Because all five outcomes met the benchmarks, no immediate action is being taken and 
outcomes will continue to be monitored. Although the Program met all benchmarks, 
taking ‘no immediate action’ is not a sufficient closing the loop activity. When a 
department greatly surpasses all benchmarks, they must evaluate the processes. For 
example, the department could evaluate the benchmark threshold, assignment, and 
rubrics. Additionally, there is no calendar for future assessments. 
 
Design 
Because the four outcomes assessed met the benchmarks, no immediate action is being 
taken and outcomes will continue to be monitored. Although the Program met all 
benchmarks, taking ‘no immediate action’ is not a sufficient closing the loop activity. 
When a department greatly surpasses all benchmarks, they must evaluate the 
processes. For example, the department could evaluate the benchmark threshold, 
assignment, and rubrics. Additionally, there is no calendar for future assessments. 
 
Table 7: Timeline for Course Learning Outcomes 
Evidence 
Collected 

Course 

Fall 2011 ADC 101, ADC 103, ADC 109*, ADC 112, ADC 159*, ADC 
160, ADC 163**, ADC 192*, ADC 209*, ADC 236**, ADC 
237**, ADC 253,  

Spring 2012 ACD 254  
Fall 2012 ADC 136 
Spring 2013 ADC 146 
Fall 2013  
Spring 2014  
Fall 2014  
Spring 2015  
Fall 2015  

    *FMD Only 
  **FMC Only 

 
D. QVIs/335s  

The Program is up-to-date on all Act 335s. QVIs for the program from 2012 through 
2014 were evaluated for this audit. The Department combined the two programs for the 
2012 and 2014 QVIs and separated the programs for the 2013 QVIs. The Construction 

67



and Design QVIs from 2013 were averaged in order to compare them to the 2012 and 
2014 QVIs. The QVI scores reflect the program quality and viability at a specific point in 
time. Although certain areas may have changed since the Program was scored, scores 
from the past remain on record.  
 
The Programs recorded a Quality score of 3.3 in 2012, which increased to a 4 in 2013; by 
2014, however, the Quality score dropped to two. The decrease in score can be 
explained by the lack of documentation relating to assessment of program level student 
learning outcomes. Over the same time period, the Programs experienced a decrease in 
Viability from 3.5, to 2.6, to 2. The decrease can be attributed to weak retention and 
number of degrees awarded.  
 

E. Advisory Committee 
Facility Management has one advisory committee for both programs that meets 
annually. The AC’s current configuration includes a local consultant, an individual in the 
industry, a former student, and a faculty member from a local university. Conversations 
have focused on enrollment growth and program size, Perkin’s Funding, retention, 
developments in the field, software, maintaining program quality, possible internships, 
lecture series/ panel discussions, tracking graduates, creating an alumni network, IFMA 
scholarships, creation of a student organization, possible articulation agreements, 
assessment, and course revisions.  
 

VI. Resources  
 The ADC department has a suite of rooms in W2-1 which, in addition to faculty offices, 
contains the following 
• A Design Studio for studio courses, augmented with computer access for research and 

visual presentations.  
• A computer lab in which computer graphics courses are held.  
• A computer lab in which other content courses are held.  
• A presentation work space area for students to work in when class is not in session, and 

for final presentations.  
The Department also uses a range of industry standard software including AutoDesk 
products (AutoCAD, REVIT), Adobe products (InDesign, Photoshop, Illustrator), SketchUP 
and WinEST. This software is purchased and supported through Perkins Local Plan funding 
for career programs. 
  

VII. Demand  
Locally, one college in the area (Temple University) aside from CCP offers a program (at any 
level) in facilities management. In its current form, the College’s Program cannot develop an 
articulation agreement with Temple due to Temple’s rigorous curriculum. Temple’s Facilities 
Management Program is housed within the architecture department and requires students 
to take Differential and Integral Calculus and Physics. Changes would need to be made to 
the curriculum for the program to pursue program to program articulation agreements with 
Temple. Program faculty note that students wishing to transfer to Temple’s program are 
“individually advised to progress along the Math sequence at CCP, in order to prepare for 
these courses.” IPED’s College Navigator lists four universities nationwide that offer a 
bachelor’s degree in Facilities Management and three schools nationwide offering an 
associate’s in Facilities Management.  

68



 
CCP’s Facilities Management Programs train graduates to transfer and/ or enter a variety of 
occupations. Administrative Service Managers and Property, Real Estate, and Community 
Association Mangers are two areas commonly entered by program graduates. Nationwide, 
both of these areas are growing at a rate around the national average. However, locally 
Administrative Service Manager jobs are growing at a slower pace. Approximately 40% of 
employees in these jobs have some college or an associate’s degree, while less than 30% 
have a bachelor’s degree.  

 
Table 7: Expected Job Growth 

 
2014-2024 Job Outlook Av. Yearly 

Salary Occupation Philadelphia MSA USA 
Administrative Service Managers 4.70% 7.90% 12.80% $104,320.00  
Property, Real Estate, and Community Association Managers 10.80% 11.20% 11.10% $70,820.00  

 
Table 8: Educational Attainment 

Occupation 
HS Diploma 

or Less 
Some 

College Associate's Bachelor's Graduate  
Administrative Service Managers 19.00% 29.10% 11.30% 27.60% 13.10% 
Property, Real Estate, & Community Association Managers 24.60% 27.60% 9.10% 28.70% 10.00% 

 
VIII. Operating Costs 

In four out of the past five years, the operating costs for the programs appear to have been 
combined. This practice stopped in the 2012-2013 school year. However, the practice makes 
it impossible to compare the cost of the programs and makes it difficult to compare the 
costs from one year to the next. It is evident from the cost data that the operating costs are 
higher than the average cost for the Division and the College.  
 
Both Programs belong to the International Facilities Management Association Foundation. 
Accreditation fees are $950 per year, which is up from $600 the first year. The Programs are 
up for re-accreditation in 2016 and the College will be required to pay travel expenses, 
meals, etc. for site visitors. 
 

  2008-2009 2009-2010 2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 
Facilities Management Construction N/A N/A 4028.35 4056.26 4410.34 
Facilities Management Design 4285.65 3030.14 N/A N/A 4570.81 
Liberal Studies 3508.63 3270.76 3226.12 3594.88 3723.48 
College 3553.11 3400.02 3493.27 3776.11 3961.96 

 
IX. Findings and 

Recommendations 
 
1. The department should create a program to accommodate students from the 
Construction Management, Facilities Management Design, Facilities Management 
Construction, and Computer Assisted Design students (and possibly Building Science).  

69



The programs within the department have major overlaps in jobs, courses, and 
outcomes. In a survey of programs at the two and four year level, many schools had 
programs in one of these areas, but none had as many as CCP. Additionally, in many of 
these programs at the four year level; the first two years were largely the same courses. 
The markets (education and employment) do not appear to need the fine-grained 
divisions among disciplines at the two year level. While those with more education 
and/or experience may find, eventually, that there are specializations within the field; 
these divisions do not exist at the undergraduate level. A single AAS program would 
suffice, perhaps with options presented for students based on their interests, in a model 
similar to the Justice Program. The program should determine the value of 
accreditation, and if this has any bearing on the combined program. The above is only 
one proposal; the department may wish to present an alternative plan for consolidation. 

Provide Alternative Plan 
Timeline: June 2015 
Persons Responsible: Department Head 

Program Created to Accommodate other ADC Students 
Timeline: Fall 2015  
Persons Responsible: Department Head, Program Faculty, Dean of 
Liberal Studies 

 
2. Improvements in Assessment.  

The department needs to further examine its assessment practice. Standards for 
student success are quite low (65%), some outcomes are not accounted for in the 
curriculum maps and others are being assessed by courses not indicated on the map at 
all. In almost all instances students are achieving outcomes and there is no plan for 
continuous improvement. Closing the loop activities (changes to teaching, courses, or 
programs based on student performance data) must be completed and uploaded to 
SharePoint. Timeline for assessment must be updated. 
 Timeline: Summer 2015 
 Responsible Persons: Program Faculty 
 

70



Community College of Philadelphia 
 

Academic Program Audit 
 

Computer Assisted Design Technology A.A.S. 
Computer Assisted Design Technology Academic Certificate 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Authors: 
Christine McDonnell 

John V. Moore III 
 

Contributors: 
Miles Grosbard 

 
 

Date: April, 2015 

71



 

I. Executive Summary 
The College offers two programs in Computer Assisted Design Technology: Computer 
Assisted Design Technology A.A.S. and Computer Assisted Design Technology Academic 
Certificate. The degree prepares graduates to enter the professional and technical services 
as drafters and technicians, primarily in architecture, engineering and construction, or in 
architectural animation. The certificate program prepares graduates interested in the field 
of computer-assisted design technology, current workers desiring more training, and those 
with a background in related technical fields for careers as documentation drafters and 
technicians. The program underwent its most recent revision in 2003.  
 
Enrollment in the Computer Assisted Design Degree Program has averaged 113 students 
each fall over the last five years, the Certificate averaged four over the same time period. 
The Programs enroll a disproportionate population of males. Students in the Degree 
Program are generally younger and less likely to be college ready compared to the Division 
and the College.  
 
The Computer Assisted Design Degree Program posts weaker outcomes than the Division 
and College in many areas including: standing, retention, graduation, success at departure, 
and course completion.   
 
In the past five years, 10 degrees and one certificate have been awarded. Although the 
focus of the Degree Program is not transfer, 24% of students who left the Program in the 
last five years transferred (58 students). The majority of these transfers occurred among 
students with zero to 12 credits.  
 
Within the department there is considerable overlap among the Computer Assisted Design 
courses and program level outcomes. 
 
The Computer Assisted Design Degree has assessed all five of the Program Learning 
Outcomes and the Certificate has assessed all four PLOs, both Programs have uploaded 
some supporting information into SharePoint. Both Programs need to evaluate the level of 
their benchmark, clarify the assessment process and upload independent rubrics for each 
outcome. Additionally, since the Programs met all of their benchmarks, no closing the loop 
activities were performed.  
 
Over the next ten years, jobs in Drafting are projected to decrease in the Philadelphia area, 
yet remain steady nationally.  
  
Over the past five years, the Degree Program’s operating costs have exceeded the average 
operating costs for the College and the Division.  
 
Due to the Programs’ low number of degrees awarded, poor retention, overlap in courses 
and program learning outcomes, lack of assessment documentation, shrinking local job 
market, and high program cost, we recommend that this program be closed.  
 

II. Program Description from College Catalog 

72



The College offers two programs in Computer Assisted Design Technology: Computer 
Assisted Design Technology A.A.S. and Computer Assisted Design Technology Academic 
Certificate.  
 
Computer-Assisted Design, or CAD, is a field that utilizes specialized computer software to 
graphically communicate (or “draft”) ideas into technically precise drawings. CAD drafting is 
used in the design and documentation process by architects and engineering and 
construction professionals. Additionally, the software is used to create the three-
dimensional images used in animation and rendering. In this program, students master the 
CAD software packages used most commonly in design, documentation, and presentation. 
The program places an emphasis on the architecture, design, and building construction 
fields. 
 
The degree program is designed to help students develop strong, marketable skills. Students 
acquire excellent computer graphic skills, as well as the technical background that allows for 
accurate, informed decisions. Students become versatile draftsmen and drafts women who 
have diverse job opportunities. Graduates are prepared to enter the professional and 
technical services as drafters and technicians, primarily in architecture, engineering and 
construction, or in architectural animation. Drafters translate ideas, sketches, and technical 
information into complete, accurate drawings needed to make buildings, structures or 
products. Technicians assist design, construction, or art professionals to create renderings 
and animations or other three-dimensional simulations. They also can create the computer 
drawings and data required for the execution of creative ideas in a wide range of disciplines, 
such as film and industrial design. Graduates may also become CAD software support 
specialists, customizing software for specific companies or providing technical support to 
the computer users. 
 
The certificate program prepares students interested in the field of computer-assisted 
design technology, current workers desiring more training, and those with a background in 
related technical fields for careers as documentation drafters and technicians. Entry-level 
documentation drafters and technicians assist design professionals in architecture, 
engineering, and construction. Drafters translate ideas, sketches, and technical information 
into complete, accurate drawings needed to make buildings, structures or products. 
Technicians assist design, construction or art professionals to create renderings and 
animations or other three-dimensional simulations. 
 
Department faculty are dedicated to helping each student develop strong, marketable skills. 
Students acquire excellent computer graphic skills and the technical background that allows 
for accurate, informed decisions. Students become versatile drafts-people who have diverse 
job opportunities. The certificate is offered for students interested in a short-term career 
preparatory experience. All courses required for the certificate also apply to the A.A.S. 
degree, so students have the option of continuing in the degree program. 
 
A. History and Revisions to the Curriculum  

The program underwent its most recent revision in 2003. Apart from the program 
revision, the department undertook many course revisions in the last five years.  ADC 
101 (Intro to Design and Construction) and ADC 103 (CAD Basics) were revised to meet 
technological competency requirements of the general education standards. ADC 112 

73



(Construction Materials and Detailing: Properties) and ADC 212 (Construction Materials 
and Detailing: Methods) were updated to include more “green” and sustainable design, 
material selection, and construction methods. ADC 136 (Building Codes) was revised to 
include construction safety, and the placement level was changed. ADC 160 
(Presentation Techniques) was updated to include digital media. ADC 253 
(Environmental Systems I) was updated to focus on sustainability and mechanical, 
electrical, and plumbing system design. ADC 254 (Environmental Systems II) filed a 
course addendum to change the prerequisites.  

74



B. Curriculum Sequence (Computer Assisted Design Technology Degree) 
Course Number and Name Pre & Co-requisites Credits Gen Ed Req. 
First Semester       

ADC 101 - Introduction to Design and Construction   3 Tech Comp* 
ADC 103 - CAD Basics   3 Tech Comp* 
ADC 109 - Design Studio I   4   
MATH 137 - Geometry for Design1 or higher    3 or 4 Mathematics 
ENGL 101 - English Composition I   3 ENGL 101 

Second Semester       
ADC 112 - Construction Materials and Detailing: Properties ADC 103 or ADC 109 3   
ADC 159 - Design Studio II ADC 103, ADC 109 4   
ADC 163 - Digital Documentation in Architecture & Construction ADC 103 3   
ENGL 102 - The Research Paper ENGL 101 with a grade of "C" or better 3 Info Lit 
ADC 160 - Presentation Techniques ADC 103, ADC 109 3   

Third Semester       
Two Directed Elective   6   
CIS 105 - Computer Systems Maintenance   3   
ADC 263 - Digital Animation and Rendering ADC 103 or ART 150 3   
ADC 260 - Advanced Presentation Techniques ADC 160 & ADC 209 or ADC 163 which 

may be taken concurrently 
3   

Social Science Elective1   3 Social Science 
Fourth Semester       

Science Elective1   3 or 4 Natural Science 
Directed Elective2 - select two from the list above   6   
ADC 273 - Advanced CAD Applications ADC 163 3   
Humanities Elective   3 Humanities 
Social Science Elective   3   

Minimum Credits Needed to Graduate: 65       
        
Directed Elective - Select two of the following:       
ADC 136 - Building Codes ADC 226 - Structures I - Analysis ADC 253 - Environmental 

Systems I 
ADC 186 - Surveying ADC 227 - Structures II - Design ADC 254 - Environmental 

System IIs 
ADC 212 - Construction Materials and Detailing: Methods ADC 246 - Contracts and Specifications ADC 286 - Building Rehab & 

Energy Retrofit 

75



B2. Curriculum Sequence (Computer Assisted Design Technology Certificate) 
Course Number and Name Pre & Co-requisites Credits 
First Semester     

ADC 101 - Introduction to Design and Construction   3 
ADC 103 - CAD Basics   3 
ADC 112 - Construction Materials and Detailing: Properties ADC 103 or ADC 109 3 
ENGL 101 - English Composition I   3 
Math 137 - Geometry for Design or higher level mathematics course Math 118 placement 3 or 4 

Second Semester     
ADC 163 - Digital Documentation in Architecture and Construction ADC 103 3 
Select one course from the following:   3 

ADC 136 - Building Codes ENGL 101 must be taken concurrently or prior 
ADC 212 - Construction Materials and Detailing: Methods ADC 103 or ADC 109   
ADC 226 - Structures I - Analysis ADC 101 and Math 118 or higher   
ADC 246 - Contracts and Specifications ADC 101   
ADC 253 - Environmental Systems I ADC 101 and ADC 103 or ADC 109   
CIS 105 - Computer Systems Maintenance     

ADC 263 - Digital Animation and Rendering ADC 103 or Art 150 3 
Humanities/Social Science Elective   3 
ADC 273 - Advanced CAD Applications ADC 163 3 
ENGL 102 - The Research Paper or ENGL 101 with a grade of "C" or better 3 
ENGL 112 - Report and Technical Writing     

Minimum Credits Needed to Graduate:   33 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

76



C1. Curriculum Map (Degree) 

 
 

C2. Curriculum Map (Certificate) 

 

77



C. Future Direction for the Field/ Program  
Computer-Assisted Design remains a fluid field, with many changes in technology and 
job demands. Foremost, the implementation of Building Information Management 
(BIM) software, specifically Autodesk Revit, has become the core software for 
architecture, construction management and facility management. With Revit a detailed 
building model is created before construction starts: the platform also allows 
collaboration across disciplines before, during, and after building construction.  
 
The CADT program requires two courses focused on Revit, ADC 163 (Digital 
Documentation in Architecture and Construction) and 273 (Advanced CAD Applications), 
to respond to the industry demand for proficiency. The department was contacted by 
the engineering firm building the new Comcast Tower, who is looking to hire five to six 
new employees and train them to create a Revit model of the building, the outcome of 
this conversation is unclear.  
 

III. Profile of the Faculty 
A. Program Faculty  

 
Faculty Position Recent Courses Taught 
Miles Grosbard, Ed. D., M. Arch Department Chair  

Professor 
ADC 209, ADC 259, ADC 176,  

Arthur E Wolf, MS, MBA Program Supervisor 
Visiting Lecturer 

 

Paula Behrens, M. Arch. Professor ADC 109, ADC 112 
Anthony Palimore, M. Arch. Assistant Professor ADC 103, ADC 254 
Michael Stern, M. Arch. Assistant Professor ADC 159, ADC 192, ADC 260, 

ADC 212 
David Bertram, M. Arch. Instructor ADC 103, ADC 227, ADC 237, 

ADC 163, ADC 101 
David Tinley, M. Arch Adjunct  ADC 136, ADC 146, ADC 186 
Elizabeth Masters, M. Arch, AIA Adjunct ADC 112 

 
B. Faculty Engagement  

Faculty members have been participants in some of the College’s Center for 
International Understanding initiatives. Over the past three years one faculty member 
has been selected for two National Endowment for the Humanities “Bridging Cultures” 
initiatives, one on East Asia and the second on South Asia. Faculty members have made 
presentations to students and fellow faculty while integrating lessons learned into the 
department’s courses. Another faculty member was selected for a Department of 
Education grant on East Asia for the 2014-15 academic year. These initiatives reflect the 
rich diversity of our department’s students and the College’s mission statement. 
 
Full time faculty members have been actively developing their skills through engaging 
the larger community. In developing the new course “Philadelphia History: Architecture 
and Planning,” created in collaboration with the History department, faculty have 
engaged with the history and historic preservation communities of Philadelphia. 
Another faculty member has completed training in Leadership in Energy and 

78



Environmental Design (LEED) a central concern in sustainability and construction. Part-
time faculty members are active professionals and members of the American Institute 
of Architects (AIA). One is president-elect of the Pennsylvania AIA chapter, while two 
others having thriving architectural practices: all energize the classroom. One part-time 
faculty member also teaches in the Facilities Management program at Temple 
University (forming a “bridge” to that program) and is a member of the International 
Facilities Management Association. 
 

IV. Program Characteristics 
A. Student Profile  

Enrollment in the Computer Assisted Design Program has averaged 113 students each 
fall over the last five years and is on an upward trend. Over the same time period, 
enrollment in the Certificate Program has averaged four students each fall over the last 
five years, and experienced fluctuation.  During the same time period, enrollment in the 
Division decreased and enrollment in the College remained flat.   
 
Table 1: Headcounts 

  
  Fall 

2009 
Fall 

2010 
Fall 

2011 Fall 2012 Fall 2013 
5 Year 

Average 
5 Year 

Change 

CADT Headcount 104 101 114 122 126        113  21% 
FTE Headcount 78 77 86 90 90         84  15% 

CADT-Cert Headcount 3 4 2 7 5          4  67% 
FTE Headcount 5 8 4 9 10          7  100% 

Liberal 
Studies 

Headcount 8892 8711 8717 8216 8059      8,519  -9% 
FTE Headcount 6313 6175 6137 5745 5649      6,004  -11% 

College Headcount 19047 19502 19752 18951 19065   19,263  0% 
FTE Headcount 13361 13697 13682 13106 13163   13,402  -1% 

 
Both CAD Programs record demographic differences between their students and 
students in the Division and the College. Both Programs enroll a higher proportion of 
males (almost double) compared to the Division and the College. However, percent of 
women in the programs (27% (AAS) and 24% (AC)) both exceed the percent of female 
drafters nationwide (22%). Both Programs enroll a higher proportion of Asian and 
multiracial students, and a lower proportion of African American and Caucasian 
students compared to the Division and the College. The programs enroll a higher 
percentage of students aged 16-21. Both Programs enroll a lower proportion of college-
ready students. 

79



 
Table 2: Demographics 

Demographics: Running 5 Year Average 

  
CAD- 

Degree 
CAD- 

Certificate 
Liberal 
Studies College 

Female 27.6% 23.5% 62.0% 64.2% 
Male 71.5% 76.5% 37.5% 35.4% 

Unknown 1.4% 0.0% 0.5% 0.5% 
          

Native American 0.0% 0.0% 0.5% 0.4% 
Asian 9.2% 22.0% 4.9% 7.3% 

African American 42.7% 30.5% 49.9% 48.8% 
Latino/a 16.1% 8.5% 10.9% 10.5% 

Multiracial 4.1% 5.1% 2.5% 2.3% 
Pacific Islander 0.1% 0.0% 0.2% 0.2% 

Unknown 9.0% 6.8% 6.9% 6.8% 
Caucasian 18.8% 27.1% 24.3% 23.8% 

          
16 – 21 50.5% 43.7% 32.7% 32.5% 
22 – 29 35.2% 18.9% 35.1% 36.6% 
30 – 39 8.3% 13.1% 15.4% 17.0% 

40 + 5.9% 24.3% 15.8% 13.0% 
Unknown 0.3% 0.0% 0.9% 0.9% 

          
Full Time 37.1% 15.3% 33.9% 31.2% 

Part Time 62.9% 84.7% 66.1% 68.8% 
          

All Developmental 28.5% 62.1% 29.3% 28.3% 
Some Developmental 53.1% 20.8% 47.3% 43.9% 

College Level 18.5% 17.1% 23.5% 27.8% 
 
The Computer Assisted Design Degree Program posts weaker outcomes than the 
Division and College in many areas. A lower proportion of students in the Degree 
program are in good academic standing. Fall-Fall and Fall-Spring retention are lower 
than the Division and the College, and students in the Degree Program change majors at 
a higher rate than in the Division and College (However, students who are unable to 
meet the requirements of Architecture and Interior Design (select programs) may be 
using CAD to meet requirements for these programs before transferring in.) The 
Program’s graduation rate is approximately one fifth that of the Division and College 
and a higher proportion of students leave the Program unsuccessfully compared to the 
Division and College. Program Course completion and GPA are marginally lower than the 
averages for the Division and College.  

80



 
Outcomes for the CAD Certificate are generally stronger than those for the Division and 
College. A higher proportion of students are in good academic standing; the Certificate 
records a graduate rate approximately triple that of the Division and College and the 
average GPA is higher than the Division and College.  However, retention, changing 
majors, and success at departure show weaker outcomes.  
 
Table 3: Outcomes Data: 5 Year Averages 

    
CAD- 

Degree 
CAD- 

Certificate LS College 

Standing 
Good Standing 80% 97% 83.7% 85.0% 
Probation 19% 3% 14.6% 13.5% 
Dropped 2% 0.0% 1.6% 1.6% 

            

Fall-
Spring 

Retention 

Returned/Same 58.9% 44.3% 64.4% 65.8% 
Returned/Different 11.9% 8.2% 6.4% 5.2% 
Graduated 0.7% 0.0% 2.4% 2.1% 
Did Not Return 28.5% 47.4% 26.8% 26.9% 

            

Fall-Fall 
Retention 

Returned/Same 31.7% 16.4% 35.9% 36.7% 
Returned/Different 20.8% 6.2% 9.7% 8.6% 
Graduated 1.8% 0.0% 8.5% 8.4% 
Did Not Return 45.7% 77.3% 45.9% 46.4% 

            

Success at 
Departure 

Graduated 2.3% 32.0% 10.5% 10.0% 
Long Term Success 30.7% 4.0% 37.3% 36.2% 
Short Term Success 14.9% 0.0% 14.3% 17.2% 
Unsuccessful 52.1% 64.0% 37.9% 36.6% 

            
Course 

Outcomes 
Course Completion 82% 88% 87.4% 88.2% 
GPA 2.55 3.32 2.66 2.65 

 
Computer Assisted Design is an A.A.S. and, therefore, the focus of this program is direct-
to-work as opposed to transfer. Fifty-eight out of 182 students (24%) transferred during 
the five year time period. The majority (31) of the transfers occurred with students 
earning zero to 12 credits.  

81



 
 
Table 4: Transfer by Departure Status 

 
 
Ten associate’s degrees and one Certificate have been awarded over the past five years 
in Computer Assisted Design Programs.  
 
Table 5: Degrees Awarded 
  2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Total 
CAD 2 2 2 1 3 10 
CAD- Certificate 0 0 0 0 1 1 
Liberal Studies 1158 956 1014 1073 999 5200 
College 2125 1908 1949 2101 2039 10122 

 

82



 
Figure 2: Degrees Awarded 

 

 

 
 
The College and Division record an almost equal number of freshmen as sophomores. 
However, within the Computer Assisted Design Program, there are 29% more freshmen 
than sophomores. This could be explained by a high proportion of students needing 
additional developmental coursework.  
 

83



 
Figure 3: Distribution of Students in Program 

 
 

Courses offered by the program run slightly less efficiently (73%) than those of the 
Division (83%) or the College (84%).  
 
However, in examining the program’s courses, it is clear that many are shared across all 
the programs in the department (Computer Assisted Design A.A.S, Facilities 
Management Construction A.A.S., Facilities Management Design A.A.S., Construction 
Management A.A.S., Architecture A.A., Interior Design A.A., and Building Science A.A.S.) 
These programs generally require between 20 and 22 courses to obtain the degree, 
which include six general education requirements and 14 to 16 program specific 
courses. Facilities Management Construction, Facilities Management Design, 
Construction Management, Computer Assisted Design, and Building Science all require 
the same general education requirements, while architecture requires a different 
mathematics course.   

• Computer Assisted Design and Facilities Management Construction share 
between 10 and 14 courses.  

• Computer Assisted Design and Facilities Management Design share between 12 
and 14 courses.  

• Computer Assisted Design and Architecture share 12 to 14 courses. 
• Computer Assisted Design and Interior Design share 12 to 14 courses. 
• Computer Assisted Design and Building Science share 10 to 15 courses. 
• Computer Assisted Design and Construction Management share 10 to 17 

courses.  
 
 

 
 

84



Table 6: Section Enrollments 
 

  
Architecture, Design and 
Construction                     

    Fall 
2008 

Spring 
2009 

Fall 
2009 

Spring 
2010 

Fall 
2010 

Spring 
2011 

Fall 
2011 

Spring 
2012 

Fall 
2012 

Spring 
2013 

Fall 
Average 

Spring 
Average 

Program 
Sections 24 27 28 32 36 35 28 31 24 28 28.00 30.60 
Avg Enrollment 21.54 20.26 20.79 21.13 18.72 18.94 19.21 21.71 18.92 19.71 19.84 20.35 
Percent Filled 77% 72% 73% 76% 69% 69% 69% 74% 68% 73% 71% 73% 

  Sections 1439 1518 1549 1673 1666 1662 1620 1646 1473 1464 1549.40 1592.60 
Division Avg Enrollment 20.22 20.65 21.55 21.31 20.81 21.23 20.75 20.72 21.45 21.29 20.96 21.04 
  Percent Filled 81% 82% 86% 86% 83% 84% 82% 81% 84% 82% 83% 83% 
  Sections 2694 2829 2881 3096 3023 2940 2939 3007 2756 2738 2858.60 2922.00 
College Avg Enrollment 21.15 21.22 22.29 21.97 21.87 22.13 21.84 21.63 22.23 22.06 21.88 21.80 
  Percent Filled 83% 83% 87% 86% 85% 85% 84% 83% 86% 84% 85% 84% 

85



V. Learning Outcomes and Assessment 
A. Program Learning Outcomes 

Upon completion of the Computer Assisted Design Degree Program graduates will be 
able to: 
1. Develop drawings and models utilizing manual and computer drafting in both two 

and three dimensions. 
2. Interpret architectural and construction drawings and documents. 
3. Develop solutions for design and construction problems by utilizing graphic 

techniques including rendering and animation. 
4. Demonstrate knowledge of various building materials and methods and related 

building technologies. 
5. Communicate effectively and work as part of a team, using graphic, oral and written 

modes. 
Upon completion of the Computer Assisted Design Certificate Program graduates will be 
able to: 
1. Develop drawings and models utilizing computer drafting in both two and three 

dimensions. 
2. Interpret architectural and construction drawings and documents. 
3. Demonstrate knowledge of various building materials and methods and related 

building technologies. 
4. Communicate effectively and work as part of a team, using graphic, oral and written 

modes. 
 

Computer Assisted Design shares three Program Learning Outcomes with Facilities 
Management, two with Architecture, one with Facilities Management Design, and one with 
Interior Design.  
B. Assessment 

Degree Program 
The Computer Assisted Design Degree has assessed all five of the Program Learning 
Outcomes and uploaded some supporting information into SharePoint. All outcomes 
assessed met the benchmarks of 65% of students achieving a good or excellent score on 
the assessments.  
 
One issue is a lack of continuity in the documents indicating which courses feed into the 
outcomes. There are three different areas of SharePoint that identify courses assessed 
for each outcome. However, there is often a misalignment between the three 
documents regarding which courses feed into which outcomes. For example, the fourth 
outcome lists assessment occurring in different courses in the SharePoint Program Level 
Assessment page (112 and 163), curriculum map (ADC 112), and the uploaded Program 
Level SLO Summary in the SharePoint (ADC 163, 260, 263). Either changes need to be 
made to the curriculum map or changes need to be made regarding which courses are 
assessed.  
 
Additionally, looking at the sources of evidence in SharePoint, it is not clear which 
sources of evidence and rubrics are being used to assess each outcome.   
 

86



 

Certificate 
The Computer Assisted Design Certificate has assessed all four Program Learning 
Outcomes and uploaded the information into SharePoint. All outcomes assessed met 
the benchmarks of 65% of students achieving a good or excellent score on the 
assessments. There are no supporting documents uploaded into the SharePoint for the 
certificate program, making it difficult to ascertain exactly how the program was 
assessed.  
 
Degree and Certificate  
Both programs appear to use the same rubric and assignment to assess multiple 
independent outcomes (outcomes one and two). Neither program posts supporting 
rubrics in the appropriate folder in SharePoint, therefore it is impossible to tell if rubrics 
are used for the assignments. However, both outcomes received the same score and 
evaluated the same three types of assignments (Assignment / Project / Paper 91%, 
Analysis of Lab and Studio Techniques 72%, Student Demonstration 82%), with an 
overall average of 82%. Independent outcomes must assess with independent rubrics. 
The programs’ 65% benchmark for the degree and certificate is low. 
 

C. Closing the Loop 
The department reported that because all eight outcomes met the benchmarks, no 
immediate actions are being taken and the outcomes will continue to be monitored. 
Although the Program met all benchmarks, taking ‘no immediate action’ is an 
insufficient closing the loop activity. When a department greatly surpasses all 
benchmarks, they must evaluate the processes, for example: the benchmark threshold, 
assignment, and rubrics. An ongoing assessment calendar must also be developed 
(Table 7, below). 
 
Table 7: Timeline for Course Learning Outcomes 
Evidence 
Collected 

Course 

Fall 2011 ADC 101, ADC 103, ADC 109, ADC 112, ADC 159, ADC 160, 
ADC 260 

Spring 2012 ACD 163, ACD 263 
Fall 2012 ADC 273 
Spring 2013  
Fall 2013  
Spring 2014  
Fall 2014  
Spring 2015  
Fall 2015  
 

87



 
 

D. QVIs/335s  
The Program is up-to-date on all Act 335s. QVI’s for the program from 2013 through 
2014 were evaluated for this audit. QVI’s were not performed in 2012 because the 
Program was originally scheduled for audit in 2012 and QVI’s are not performed during 
audit years. The QVI scores reflect the program quality and viability at a specific point in 
time. Although certain areas may have changed since the Program was scored, scores 
from the past remain on record.  
 
The Program recorded a quality score of four in 2013; by 2014 the score had dropped to 
two. The decrease in score can be explained by the lack of documentation relating to 
assessment of program level student learning outcomes. Over the same time period, the 
Program experienced a decrease in viability from three in 2013 to one in 2014. The 
decrease in quality score can be attributed to the poor graduation rates, retention, and 
the small number of degrees awarded. It must be noted that fluctuations in small 
programs may appear deceptively large when percentages are calculated.  
 

E. Surveys 
An insufficient number of CAD students have responded to the graduation survey 
conducted by Institutional Research to make valid inferences from the data (N=7).  
 

F. Advisory Committee  
The Program’s advisory committee meets once a year; five individuals from the industry 
participated in the meeting in 2012, four in 2013, and three in 2014. Recent discussions 
have focused on student work, upcoming audits, academic performance, program 
completion, enrollment, Perkins Funding, designing in software and by hand, purchasing 
software, and faculty retirement, hiring and promotions. Additionally, the committee 
discussed the need for a CAD-degreed person in the workplace, and the advisory 
committee could not definitively state whether a degree is required. However, one 
member of the committee indicated that his former employer hired both degreed and 
non-degreed employees.   
  

VI. Resources  
The ADC department has a suite of rooms in W2-1 which, in addition to faculty offices, 
contains the following 

• A Design Studio for studio courses, augmented with computer access for 
research and visual presentations.  

• A computer lab in which computer graphics courses are held.  
• A computer lab in which other content courses are held.  
• A presentation work space area for students to work in when class is not in 

session, and for final presentations.  
• A printer room that houses a 3D printer and laser guided cutting machine, 

funded by the Perkins local plan. 
The Department also uses a range of industry standard software including Autodesk 
products (AutoCAD, REVIT), Adobe products (InDesign, Photoshop, Illustrator), and 
SketchUp. The purchase of this software is supported through Perkins Local Plan funding 
for career programs. 

88



 
VII. Demand  

CCP’s CAD Program trains graduates enter the field of drafting. Locally, occupations in 
drafting are projected to decrease (-8.2%) over the next ten years. Nationwide, a small 
amount of growth is projected (4%), however this growth is still less than the nationwide 
average job growth of 11%. 
 
Locally, two institutions in the area (Delaware County Community College and ITT Technical 
Institute) offer programs in Computer Assisted Design and Architectural Drafting, offering a 
certificate or associates degree. 
 
Table 8: Job Growth Outlook 2014-2024 

Occupation Philadelphia MSA USA Average Salary 2014 
Drafters -8.20% -4.70% 4.00% $48,900 

 
VIII. Operating Costs 

Over the past five years, the Degree Program’s operating costs have exceeded the average 
operating costs for the College by between 6 (2012-2013) and 18 percent (2008-2009). Over 
the past five years, the operating costs for the Degree Program and the average College 
operating cost have been converging. No operating cost data were available prior to the 
2011-2012 school year for the Certificate.  
 

 

89



 

 
IX. Findings & 

Recommendations 
1. Close the Computer Assisted Design Technology Degree Program 

Although program enrollment is high; retention, graduation, and course completions 
outcomes are poor. The advisory committee has also questioned the need for the degree 
program. There is considerable overlap between the CAD program and all the other 
programs in the department in terms of courses and student learning outcomes. The 
assessment reports do not clearly demonstrate where assessment is taking place and what 
is being assessed and the Program shows no evidence of closing the loop activities. The QVIs 
portray a program of decreasing quality and viability. Jobs in Computer Assisted Design are 
projected to experience negative growth over the coming years. For these reasons, it is 
recommended that the Computer Assisted Design Program be closed.  

Timeline:  No newly admitted students, Fall 2015. 
Last student graduations in CAD. Any remaining students transferred to 
a new program. Spring 2018.  

Persons Responsible: Department Head, Dean of Liberal Studies 
 

2. Assess the need for the Computer Assisted Design Technology Certificate Program 
The last audit (in 2001) recommended evaluating the need for a certificate due to low 
enrollment and completion; since then, enrollment in the Certificate Program has 
decreased. One certificate has been awarded in the past five years and over half the 
students that have left the program in the past five years, did so in poor academic standing. 
The certificate program has experienced similar challenges as the degree program. The 
program should continue to offer the courses associated with CAD skills; much like 
Geographic Information Systems, also offered here, CAD by itself does not appear to lead 
directly to many jobs. Rather it is a skill set that is added on to an individual with an area of 
expertise in another functional area. However, by offering only a certificate (academic or 
proficiency, the program may be able to maintain its size while increasing graduation. It 
would also be easily added to the other degrees offered in the department. 
 
The program, if it remains will need to strengthen relationships with local high schools as 
well as businesses1 and take a stronger hand in owning students early on in their academic 
careers to assist with high departure rates early in the program and low graduation rates 
overall. 

Timeline:  Report with recommendations delivered to Dean by end of Fall 2015. 
Persons Responsible: Department Head, Program Faculty 

 
 

                                                           
1 The program faculty mentioned a firm that is engineering the facades of a ten million square foot project in 
Manhattan is developing a long-term connection with the College’s program to cultivate entry-level positions.  

 

90



91



92



93



 
 

 
 
 

Business and Technology Division 
 

DATE: March 25, 2015 
 
TO: Dr. Judy Gay 
 
FROM: Marian E. McGorry 
 
SUBJECT: CAHM Academic Audit – Targets & Timelines 

 

At the Thursday, February 5, 2015, meeting of the Student Outcomes Committee of the Board of 

Trustees, the Committee members requested to see the targets and timelines for each of the 

recommendations presented in the Academic Program Audits for the Culinary Arts AAS Degree, 

Hospitality Management AAS Degree, and the Professional Cooking Proficiency Certificate.  

Below are the five (5) recommendations from the Audits with the activities, targets, and timelines 

for each.   

 

Findings and Recommendations 

 
1. Program Management 

Students in both programs enroll in approximately 40% more courses than are required for graduation. Some of 

these credits can be attributed to developmental students, gatekeeper courses, or students experimenting with 

courses outside CAHM. Research should be undertaken to determine if there are common courses that students 

enroll in outside of the curriculum and common courses students struggle to progress through and how the 

Programs can assist students in progressing through the program.  

 

Additionally Students in both Culinary Arts and Hospitality Management change majors at a rate approximately 

30% higher than that of the College.  Research should be undertaken to determine if they are changing majors 

within the two programs (swapping one for the other) or leaving CAHM completely and if anything can be done 

to improve retention.   

 

Faculty will work with Institutional Research staff to identify: 

 

a. the progress of student program majors who are taking common courses that are not required 

for the Culinary Arts (CULA) or Hospitality Management (HOSM) degree and include 

FNMT 017-Elementary Algebra and ENGL 098-Fundamentals of Writing;  

 

b. the progress of CULA and HOSM students who are taking common courses for the programs 

and include: FNMT 118-Intermediate Algebra, ENGL 101-English Composition I, 

CAHM 170-Elementary Food Preparation, Principles & Practices, CAHM 151-Elementary 

Baking and Pastry, CAHM 171-Quantity Food Preparation, and CAHM 271-Food, Beverage 

Management & Labor Cost Controls.   

 

Target: Decrease the number of unnecessary courses students take from 40% to 25%. 

 

94

http://ccp.edu/college-catalog/course-offerings/culinary-arts-and-hospitality-management-courses#cahm151


CAHM Academic Audit – Targets & Timelines 
Page 2 
March 25, 2015  

 

Faculty will work with Institutional Research staff to identify whether students are: 

 

c. taking CAHM courses in the third semester and then changing to the alternate CAHM 

degree program and consequently taking unnecessary courses, or  

d. changing to a major other than a CAHM program.   

 

The sequence of courses during the first year are the same for both the Culinary Arts and 

Hospitality Management programs.  CAHM faculty will engage in student mentoring and 

one-on-one academic advising to improve the academic paths of students and will focus 

especially on those students who have traditionally self advised and have not met with 

CAHM faculty.   

 

CAHM faculty recently learned how to use and have access to Hobson’s Connect software 

where they will connect with and pre-advise prospective CAHM students and will have the 

ability to track those students as they enter the CULA or HOSM program and advise them 

appropriately.  

 

 Target: Decrease from 30% to 20% the number of students who change majors. 

 

Timeline: Progress report to Assistant Dean by the end of Fall 2015 and a complete report 

with data at the end of the 2015-2016 academic year. 

 
2. Broaden Focus of Hospitality Management Program  

The Hospitality Management field has recently evolved to include tourism, meeting/ convention/ event planning, 

and gaming. Locally, job growth in meeting/ convention/ event planning and gaming is favorable, while the job 

growth in food, beverage and hotels is stagnant. Increasingly, more jobs in food, beverage, and hotel management 

are being filled by individuals without higher education qualifications, while a greater proportion of jobs in 

meeting/ convention/ event planning and gaming are filled by individuals with higher education qualifications. 

Research should be undertaken to determine if CCP should broaden the focus of the Hospitality Management 

Program and if the focus is broadened, identify what changes should be made.  

 

 CAHM faculty will consult with representatives from the four-year area partner institutions 

with Hospitality Management programs (Temple, Widener, Cheney, Drexel) to determine 

which aspect of the hospitality management field to include in the Hospitality Management 

curriculum.  The course faculty develop and add to the program should benefit students when 

they enter the workforce or if students transfer to a four-year university.   

 

 Target: By September 2015 the CAHM faculty will submit a proposal to develop a new 

course for the Hospitality Management (HOSM) program that will increase the job 

opportunities for program graduates and will transfer seamlessly to the four-year partner 

institutions. 

 

Timeline: New course developed and presented to the Academic Affairs Council by the 

end of May 2016.  

 

3. Clean up Program Enrollments 

Currently, CAHM offers two degree programs, Culinary Arts and Hospitality Management. In the past, five other 

programs were offered; however, some students remain registered in these other programs which are no longer 

offered. This makes it challenging to provide appropriate support to enrolled students. The Programs should 

95



CAHM Academic Audit – Targets & Timelines 
Page 3 
March 25, 2015  

 
determine a date by which all students must move from old programs into the either in Culinary Arts or 

Hospitality Management.  

 

According to a February 18, 2015, Bantasks report, there are six (6) students who remain 

registered in the discontinued HTP programs and who are registered in CAHM courses during 

the Spring 2015 semester.  CAHM faculty have already contacted and personally advised these 

students.  Faculty are in the process of changing students’ curricula from the HTP programs 

into either the Culinary Arts (CULA) or Hospitality Management (HOSM) programs and will 

update the Assistant Dean by April 20, 2015, whether the six students have changed their 

programs to CULA or HOSM.   

 

Target: No students registered in HTP programs by September 1, 2015. 

 

Timeline: HTP students who have not changed their program will receive a letter 

notifying them to change their program by August 1, 2015, or the College will 

move them to either CULA or HOSM.  

 
4. Program Management and Student Support 

Culinary Arts enrolls a high proportion of developmental students and this seems to lead to lower outcomes 

(retention, graduation, and completion). Students within the degree would seem to benefit from additional 

supports (such as supplemental instruction) which could help mitigate the risk of dropping out once high risk 

courses have been identified. 

 

CAHM faculty have already contacted the Learning Lab Department Head and scheduled an 

appointment to discuss implementing strategies that will improve CAHM students’ learning.  

Anecdotal information from CAHM faculty indicates the need to improve the math skills of 

CULA and HOSM students, and one of the strategies faculty plan to implement is 

supplemental math instruction for students who are registered in the CAHM 170 sections.   

 

Faculty will use the results of the data compiled by Institutional Research from Findings and 

Recommendation #1 to develop additional initiatives that will increase student retention, 

learning, and success. 

 

  Targets: In the Culinary Arts program increase graduation rate from 7.4% to 15% 

(HOSM average) and in CULA and HOSM programs increase Fall to Fall 

retention from 34.4% and 38.3% respectively to 40% or higher (College average 

is 36.7%).  

 

 Timeline: Progress report to Assistant Dean at the end of the 2015-2016 academic year 

and a complete report with data at the end of the Fall 2016 semester. 

 
5. Close Professional Cooking Certificate 

The certificate is quite small and has never really expanded, despite strong growth in culinary arts overall. There 

is also an overlap with non-credit offerings. The program should be closed. 

 

At the February 5th meeting of the Student Outcomes Committee of the Board, members 

suggested that the program may need more stackable credentials and recommended contacting 

OIC to create a partnership and an articulated credit agreement for the students who complete 

the OIC culinary training program.   

96



CAHM Academic Audit – Targets & Timelines 
Page 4 
March 25, 2015  

 

 

Targets: CAHM faculty will develop proposals for new stackable culinary arts and 

hospitality management proficiency certificates.  Meet with OIC representatives 

to develop an articulation agreement. 

 

Timeline: No new students admitted to the Professional Cooking Proficiency Certificate in 

Fall 2015.  CAHM faculty meet with OIC representatives by the end of June 

2015.  Proficiency Certificate proposals submitted by the end of the Fall 2015 

semester.   

 

97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



MEETING OF THE BUSINESS AFFAIRS COMMITTEE 
OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Community College of Philadelphia  
Wednesday, May 20, 2015 – 9:00 A.M. 

 
 
Present: Mr. Jeremiah White, presiding; Ms. Suzanne Biemiller, Stella Tsai, Esq. (via 

teleconference), Dr. Donald Generals, Mr. Jacob Eapen, Mr. Gregory Murphy, 
Mr. Todd Murphy and Mr. James P. Spiewak 

 
AGENDA – PUBLIC SESSION 

 
(1) 2015-16 Operating and Capital College Budget (Action Item): 

 
Discussion:  Staff provided an overview of the proposed 2015-16 budget.  The 

expenditure plan totals $147,691,243.  The recommended educational and general budget 
operating expense (including student activities and auxiliaries) is $135,053,983, and the capital 
budget expense is $12,637,261.  Mr. Eapen noted that the proposed budget is consistent with 
prior information shared with the Committee at the previous month’s meeting.  The 2015-16 
budget is balanced and contains no tuition or fee increases.  The budget will accommodate the 
priority initiatives desired by the Board and the President. 

 
Action:  Ms. Tsai moved and Ms. Biemiller seconded the motion that the Committee 

recommend to the full Board that the proposed 2015-16 College Budget be approved.  The 
motion passed unanimously. 

 
(2) HVAC Enhancements – Rooms BG-25 and BG-28 (Action Item): 
 

Discussion:  Staff reviewed the HVAC enhancements required for Rooms BG-25 and BG-
28.  Rooms BG-25 and BG-28 are rooms now dedicated to registration and student workshops, 
being used during both normal business hours and on weekends, when plant operations are not 
in service. These rooms, during design and construction, did not include adequate cooling 
capacity for the 37 computers in each room and off-hours operations. The remedy is to add the 
proposed supplemental cooling system which is operable during off hours, and can supplement 
the normal operations as needed. 
 

Specifications were written and bids were requested to install systems sized 
appropriately to address the above issues.  Eight contractors participated in attending the pre-
bid meeting and bid responses were received from two mechanical contractors.  The lowest 
responsive bid was from GEM Mechanical Services for $99,188.  The second bid, from Kaser 
Mechanical, LLC, was $102,000.  In response to questions from Mr. White, it was confirmed 
that GEM Mechanical Services is a woman-owned business and that the College had been using 
a temporary cooling solution for more than a year. 
 

Action: Ms. Biemiller moved and Ms. Tsai seconded the motion that the Committee 
recommend to the full Board the awarding of the contract for RFP #9878 HVAC - Mechanical 
BG-25 & BG-28 to GEM Mechanical Services for the amount $99,188.00.  The motion passed 
unanimously. 

110



 
(3) Architectural and Engineering Services Proposal for Vertical Transportation in 

West Building (Action Item): 
 

Discussion:  Staff reported that VTX transportation consultants were retained to conduct 
a survey of the West Building escalators and develop a report to address vertical transportation 
needs within the building.  As a result of that survey and report to the Board, staff received 
authorization to proceed with the development of plans and specifications for the replacement 
of the West Building escalators with fixed stairs.  Because of the desired aggressive schedule 
for replacement, the College solicited a direct proposal from Gannett Fleming, Inc. who 
completed the work on the initial survey as it related to the fixed stairs option.   

 
Action:  Ms. Biemiller moved and Ms. Tsai seconded the motion that the Committee 

recommend to the full Board the awarding of the proposal for professional architectural and 
engineering services for $105,550 to Gannett Fleming, Inc.  The motion passed unanimously.   

 
(4) 17th Street Landscaping Contracts (Action Item): 
 

Discussion:  Staff explained that the completion of the Pavilion Building and the Bonnell 
front entrance included extensive landscape features, outdoor recreation and study areas.  
These efforts were postponed due to funding and architectural issues which resulted in a 
significantly reduced scope “field modification” at the time the buildings were opened.  The 
College revisited the landscape goals and redefined the vision for the area of the campus 
divided by 17th Street.  Working in collaboration with the Streets Department, Philadelphia 
Water Department, CCP staff, faculty and students, a new vision was submitted and approved 
by all parties. 

 
The College posted and requested bid responses through the Pennsylvania Electronic 

Document & Bid Management Program (PennBid) identified as CCP RFP#9877. There are two 
significant efforts involved and bids were received by two contractors for both efforts – General 
Trades / Construction and Electrical.  Staff mentioned that the College’s Equal Opportunity Plan 
(EOP) was incorporated into the bid specifications.  Accordingly, minority participation efforts 
by the two contractors will be reported back to the Committee at the next meeting. 

 
Bid Respondent Trade Amount 

Anthony Biddle 
Contractors, Inc. 

General 
Construction 

$1,077,000.00 

A.P. Construction, Inc. General Construction $1,162,200.00 
Carr & Duff Inc. Electrical 

Construction 
$209,450.00 

E.J. Electric Electrical Construction $249,500.00 

 
 Staff noted that the work will begin as soon as possible after the Board approves the 
contracts on June 4, 2015 with an expected completion date prior to the end of August, 2015.   
 

Action:  Ms. Biemiller moved and Ms. Tsai seconded the motion that the Committee 
recommend to the full Board the awarding of the following contracts:  Anthony Biddle 

111



Contractors, Inc. at $1,077,000.00 for General Construction and Carr & Duff Inc. at 
$209,450.00 for Electrical Construction.  The motion passed unanimously. 
 
(5) Renovations to Rooms M2-35 and M2-36 (Action Item): 

 
Discussion:  The Academic Affairs Division requested the development of plans and 

specifications for interior architectural changes to the Institutional Research offices to 
accommodate increased staffing levels and functionality that is more efficient.  The office suites 
that the department occupies are being combined.  A pre-bid meeting was held on April 24, 
2015 and four firms attended.   Bids were received and opened on May 11, 2015.  Of the four 
firms invited, two submitted responses to RFP #9884.  TE Construction Services submitted the 
lowest qualified bid for the work at $59,800.00.  

 
Torrado Construction $73,899.00 
TE Construction Services $59,800.00 

 
Action:  Ms. Tsai moved and Ms. Biemiller seconded the motion that the Committee 

recommend to the full Board the awarding of the contract to TE Construction Services for 
$59,800.00.  The motion passed unanimously. 
 
(6) 2014-15 Budget Update (Information Item): 

 
Staff provided an overview of the College’s budget status for fiscal year 2014-15.  The 

implications of key factors currently impacting on the budget were discussed.  The originally 
projected use of carry-over funds for the 2014-15 year was $1,075,299.  The shortfall has been 
eliminated as a result of much lower-than-budgeted costs associated with the College’s self-
insured medical program, higher-than-budgeted lapsed salaries and other continued successful 
cost containment efforts.  Mr. Eapen noted that the College will take advantage of these factors 
to pay off the remaining seven years of the Johnson Controls’ guaranteed performance lease 
contract and some other technology leases.  He indicated that approximately $600,000 of 
reserves may be required to fully liquidate the guaranteed performance contract lease.  
Committee members noted that this small use of reserves is within the amount initially 
budgeted and approved by the Board. A small operating budget surplus is projected. 

 
(7) Memorandum of Understanding between the College and the College 

Foundation (Information Item): 
 

 Staff reviewed the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the College and the 
College Foundation which represents the collaborative relationship between the two entities. 
Attachment A is a draft MOU between the College and the College Foundation. Staff of both the 
College and Foundation developed this draft as a work in progress.  Mr. Gregory Murphy 
provided Committee members with the history of the Foundation and its relationship to the 
College.  He noted that this type of MOU is typical of Foundations with less than $50 million in 
reserves.  Mr. Eapen stated that the document is currently under review by the College’s legal 
counsel, particularly as it pertains to indemnification and liability clauses. 
 
 Mr. White discussed various aspects of the agreement including the roles and 
responsibilities of both parties as it pertains to donor protection policies, use of College name 

112



and logo, investments, marketing, real estate transaction and intellectual property and licenses.  
Committee members also discussed MOU termination language and the intermediate steps that 
should be in place prior to a possible dissolution of the Foundation. 
 
 Mr. Eapen noted that the staff will incorporate Committee members’ suggestions and 
those of the attorney and bring the document back for approval. 

 
(8) Additional Informational Items 

 
Mr. White asked staff about its capital projects plan.  Mr. Eapen responded that staff are 

working on prioritizing projects and will present a two-year preliminary plan at the next 
Committee meeting. 

 
Mr. White inquired about the status of the bond refinancing efforts.  Mr. Eapen noted 

that the bond market has been challenging lately, but both the College’s financial advisor and 
underwriter expect some improvement in the bond market in June.  College staff still hope to 
receive $2.7 million in savings from the refinancing that will occur in conjunction with the new 
borrowing for the Biology Lab and West Building escalator replacement projects.  Mr. White 
stated that he needs to be informed on the savings prior to the execution of the deal.  Mr. 
Eapen responded that he will seek Mr. White’s and the President’s approval.   

 
Committee members discussed potential partnership strategies with Comcast 

Corporation specifically in light of their new hiring plans and lease negotiations with the City.  
Dr. Generals stated that he is developing a Comcast strategy. 
 
(9) Executive Session 
 
 Discussion was centered on real estate issues. 
 
(10) Proposed 2015-16 Business Affairs Committee Meeting Dates (Information 

Item): 
 

In order to facilitate Board calendar planning, Committees are asked to establish a 
meeting calendar for the year.  Proposed meeting dates for 2015-16 are as follows: 

 
Wednesday, September 23, 2015 – 9:00 A.M. 
Wednesday, October 21, 2015 – 9:00 A.M. 
Wednesday, November 18, 2015 – 9:00 A.M 
No Meeting in December, 2015 
Wednesday, January 20, 2016 – 9:00 A.M. 
No Meeting in February, 2016 
Wednesday, March 23, 2016 – 9:00 A.M 
Wednesday, April 20, 2016 – 9:00 A.M. 
Wednesday, May 18, 2016 – 9:00 A.M. 
Wednesday, June 22, 2016 – 9:00 A.M. 

113



 
(11) Next Meeting Date: 
 
 The next regularly scheduled meeting of the Committee will occur on Wednesday, June 
17, 2015 at 9:00 A.M. in the Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
JE/lm 
Attachments 
BAC\MAY 20, 2015 BAC DRAFT MINUTES 

114



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE 
COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF PHILADELPHIA FOUNDATION  

AND THE COLLEGE 
 

115



Memorandum of Understanding 
Between the Community College of Philadelphia Foundation  

and the Community College of Philadelphia 
 

 
THIS AGREEMENT, entered into as of this _____ day of , 2015, by and between Community 
College of Philadelphia (the College) and the Community College of Philadelphia Foundation (the Foundation). 
 
The Foundation was organized and incorporated in 1985 to act for the benefit of Community College of 
Philadelphia. The Foundation solely exists to raise and manage private resources supporting the mission and 
priorities of Community College of Philadelphia, and provide opportunities for students and a margin of 
institutional excellence that would be unavailable without additional financial support. 
 
As stated in its articles of incorporation, the Foundation is a separately incorporated 501(c)(3) organization and is 
responsible for identifying and cultivating relationships with potential donors and other friends of Community 
College of Philadelphia; soliciting cash, securities, real and intellectual property, and other private resources for 
the support of Community College of Philadelphia; and acknowledging and stewarding such gifts in accordance 
with donor intent and its fiduciary responsibilities. 
 
As its mission states, the Community College of Philadelphia Foundation enhances and enriches the educational 
experiences of Community College of Philadelphia students by providing external resources to support the  
College's mission. As the private funding development arm of the College, the Foundation seeks to support the 
College's mission by bringing together community leaders who will serve as ambassadors of the College to 
broaden the College's image within the community. The Foundation serves the College by creating partnerships 
with individuals, businesses, organizations, and foundations to raise private gifts for scholarships, instructional 
equipment, professional development, and the capital needs of the College. 
 
The Foundation is dedicated to assisting the College in the building of the endowment and in addressing, through 
financial support, the long-term academic, strategic, and other priorities of the College. 
 
In connection with its asset-management activities, the Foundation retains an outsourced chief investment officer 
experienced in planning for and managing endowment and works with the Foundation to assist and advise in the 
handling of private donations and related activities. 
 
In consideration of the mutual commitments herein contained, and other good and valuable consideration, 
receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 
 
 
Name and Logotype 
Consistent with its mission to help to advance the plans and objectives of the College, the Foundation is granted 
the use of the name, Community College of Philadelphia; however, the Foundation will operate under its own 
logotype based on the College’s brand. The Foundation has the approval of the College to use the College 
name/logo or other identifying marks in the promotion of its business and activities.  
 
Institution Governance (reviewing Board of Trustees By-Laws) 
• The Board of Trustees of Community College of Philadelphia is responsible for overseeing the mission and 

leadership of the College. 
• The Board of Trustees is responsible for setting priorities and long-term plans for Community College of 

Philadelphia. 
• The Board of Trustees is legally responsible for the performance and oversight of all aspects of Community 

College of Philadelphia operations. 
• The Board of Trustees is responsible for the employment, compensation, and evaluation of all Community 

College of Philadelphia employees, including the President. 

116



Foundation Governance 
• Per its approved Roles and Responsibilities of Foundation Directors, and in accordance with 15 Pa. 

C.S.A. § 5712 - Standard of care and justifiable reliance, a director of a nonprofit corporation shall stand 
in a fiduciary relation to the corporation and shall perform his duties as a director, including his duties 
as a member of any committee of the board upon which he may serve, in good faith, in a manner he 
reasonably believes to be in the best interests of the corporation and with such care, including 
reasonable inquiry, skill and diligence, as a person of ordinary prudence would use under similar 
circumstances.  

• All Foundation Directors are fiduciaries of the College Foundation, and should govern with responsibility 
for the public trust, the future of the Foundation, and the benefit of current and future students of 
Community College of Philadelphia. 

• The business and affairs of the Foundation shall be managed by its Board of Directors, which shall be 
composed of no less than seven (7) and no more than thirty (30) members, who shall be natural persons 
of full age and who are residents of the United States of America. 

• The Foundation’s Executive Committee shall handle all matters related to governance. 
• Directors are expected to fulfill their responsibilities and conduct their activities on behalf of the 

Foundation within the letter, spirit, and intent of applicable laws and regulations. 
• Foundation Directors adhere to an established conflict of interest policy and statement of fiduciary 

responsibility. 
 
Foundation’s Relationship to the Institution 
• The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation is a separately incorporated 501(c)(3) nonprofit 

organization created to raise, manage, distribute, and steward private resources to support the mission and 
strategic priorities of the College, on the main campus and at the regional centers. 

• The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation Board of Directors is responsible for the control and 
management of all assets of the Foundation, including the prudent management of all gifts consistent with 
donor intent. 

• The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation is responsible for the performance and oversight of all 
aspects of its operations based on a comprehensive set of bylaws that clearly address the board’s fiduciary 
responsibilities, including expectations of individual board members based upon ethical guidelines and 
policies. 

• The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation relies on College employees to fulfill its responsibilities.  
As stated in its Bylaws, the College’s Vice President for Institutional Advancement shall serve as the 
Executive Director of the Foundation. 

• At the request of the College, The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation will transfer a percentage 
of unrestricted funds annually to the institution with approval of the Foundation Board of Directors. 

 
Institution’s Relationship to the Foundation 
• The College’s President is responsible for communicating Community College of Philadelphia priorities and 

long-term plans, as approved by the Trustees, to the Foundation. 
• The Community College of Philadelphia recognizes that the Foundation is a private corporation with the 

authority to keep all records and data confidential consistent within the law. 
• The Vice President of Institutional Advancement/Executive Director of the Foundation, who performs a dual role, 

shall be included as a member of the College President’s Cabinet and senior administrative team, and shall 
have regular access to this group. 

• The Community College of Philadelphia shall include the Foundation as a participant in the strategic planning 
process for the College.  The President of the College shall serve as an ex-officio member of the Foundation 
Board, without voting authority, and shall assume a prominent role in fundraising activities. 

• In consideration of Foundation services, Community College of Philadelphia will provide staff, office space, 
computer and telephone systems, utilities, adequate personnel, office supplies, and other such services that 
may be necessary or required to assist the Foundation to fulfill its responsibilities and obligations. 

• Community College of Philadelphia shall establish and enforce policies that support the Community College 
of Philadelphia Foundation’s ability to respect the privacy and confidentiality of donor records.  

117



Foundation Responsibilities 
1. Fundraising 

• The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation shall create an environment conducive to increasing 
levels of private support for the mission and priorities of Community College of Philadelphia. 

• The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation, in consultation with the College leadership, is 
responsible for planning and executing comprehensive fundraising and donor-acquisition programs in 
support of the institution’s mission. These programs include Corporate and Foundation gifts, Alumni, 
annual giving, major gifts, planned gifts, special projects, and campaigns as appropriate. 

• The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation will align its gift acceptance policy with the College. 
In addition, the Foundation will establish, adhere to, and periodically assess its gift-management and 
acceptance policies. It will promptly acknowledge and issue receipts for all gifts on behalf of the 
Foundation and the college and provide appropriate recognition and stewardship of such gifts. 

• Community College of Philadelphia recognizes that the Foundation bears major responsibility for 
fundraising. The Foundation Board of Directors shall direct the Executive Director of the Foundation to 
coordinate fundraising initiatives, including major gifts solicitations with the Foundation. 

• The College President will work in conjunction with the leadership of the Foundation Board and the 
Foundation Executive Director to identify, cultivate, and solicit prospects for private gifts. 

• The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation shall not accept grants from state or federal 
agencies, except in special circumstances that are approved by the Foundation Board of Directors and 
the governmental agency. 

• The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation shall establish and enforce policies to protect donor 
confidentiality and rights. 

• The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation will not fundraise on behalf or in support of any 
organization other than Community College of Philadelphia. 

• In addition to following its own protocol in accepting any gift to or for the benefit of the College, the 
Foundation shall obtain prior approval, which such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, from 
the College before accepting any gift for the benefit of the College that obligates College assets or 
involves real estate.  The Foundation will advise prospective donors that any such gifts are subject to 
the approval of both the Foundation and the College under this agreement. 

• The Foundation will mutually agree on performance benchmarks related to its functions. 
 

2. Asset Management 
• The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation will establish asset-allocation, disbursement, and 

spending policies that adhere to applicable federal and state laws including the Uniform Prudent 
Investor Act (UPIA) and the Uniform Management of Institutional Funds Act (UMIFA). 

• The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation will receive, hold, manage, invest, and disperse 
contributions of cash, securities, patents, copyrights, intellectual property, and other forms of property, 
including immediately vesting gifts and deferred gifts that are contributed in the form of planned and 
deferred-gift instruments. 

• The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation, as a component unit of the College, will engage an 
independent accounting firm annually to conduct an audit of the Foundation’s financial and 
operational records and will provide Community College of Philadelphia with a copy of the annual 
audited financial statements, including management letters. 

 
3. Institutional Flexibility 

• The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation will explore current opportunities, including 
acquisition and management of real estate on behalf of Community College of Philadelphia for future 
allocation, transfer, or use by the College. 

• The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation may serve as an instrument for entrepreneurial 
activities for the College and engage in such activities as purchasing, developing, or managing real 
estate for College expansion, student housing, or retirement communities. It also may hold licensing 
agreements and other forms of intellectual property, borrow or guarantee debt issued by their parties, 
or engage in other activities to increase Foundation revenue. 

118



• When distributing gift funds to the College, the Community College of Philadelphia Foundation will 
disclose any terms, conditions, or limitations imposed by donor or legal determination on the gift. 
Community College of Philadelphia will abide by such restrictions and provide appropriate 
documentation. 

 
4. Transfer of Funds 

• The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation is the primary depository of private gifts and will 
transfer funds, when appropriate, to the designated entity within the institution in compliance with 
applicable laws, college policies, and gift agreements. 

• The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation’s disbursements on behalf of the College must be 
reasonable business expenses that support the institution, are consistent with donor intent, and do not 
conflict with the law. 

 
Foundation Funding and Administration 
• It is a goal of the Community College of Philadelphia Foundation to establish a financial plan to become self-

supporting and allow it to underwrite the cost of Foundation programs, operations, and services. 
• The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation has the right to use a reasonable percentage of the 

annual unrestricted funds, assess fees for services, or impose gift taxes, to support its operations. The use of 
fees and taxes should be disclosed to donors and institution staff. 

• The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation shall maintain, at its own expense, copies of the plans, 
budgets, and donor and alumni records developed in connection with the performance of its obligations. 

• The Community College of Philadelphia Foundation will provide access to data and records to the College as 
requested in accordance with applicable laws, Foundation policies, and guidelines. 

• The Foundation will provide its annual report, and other information that may be publicly released. 
 
 
Liability Section 
(need legal opinion) 
 
 
 
Terms of the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 
 

This Memorandum of Understanding, made this [day] of [month], 20___ [year], by and between 
Community College of Philadelphia and the Community College of Philadelphia Foundation (an Internal Revenue 
Code §501(c)(3) nonprofit corporation), is intended to set forth policies and procedures that will contribute to the 
coordination of their mutual activities. 
 
To ensure effective achievement of the items of the agreement, the College and Foundation officers and board 
representatives shall hold periodic meetings to foster and maintain productive relationships and to ensure open 
and continuing communications and alignment of priorities. 
 
Either party may, upon 90 days prior written notice to the other, terminate this agreement.  Notwithstanding the 
forgoing, either party may terminate this MOU in the event the other party defaults in the performance of its 
obligations and fails to cure the default within a reasonable time after receiving written show-cause notice. 
 
Should the College choose to terminate this agreement, the Foundation may require the College to pay, within 
180 days of written notice, all debt incurred by the Foundation on the College’s behalf including, but not limited 
to, lease payments, advanced funds, and funds borrowed for specific initiatives. Should the Foundation choose to 
terminate this agreement, the College may require the Foundation to pay debt it holds on behalf of the 
Foundation in like manner. 

119



Consistent with provisions appearing in the Foundation’s bylaws and its articles of incorporation, should the 
Foundation cease to exist or cease to be an Internal Revenue Code §501(c)(3) organization, the Foundation will 
transfer its assets and property to the institution, to the College, to a reincorporated successor Foundation, or to 
the state or federal government for public purposes, in accordance with the law and donor intent. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Memorandum of Understanding to be executed by their duly 
authorized officers as of the day and date first above written. 
 
 
 

 ______________ 

Chair President 
Board of Trustees Board of Directors 
Community College of Philadelphia Community College of Philadelphia Foundation 
 

Date:       Date:    
 

 
 
 
_______________________________________________     ___________________________________________________ 

President Executive Director 
Community College of Philadelphia Community College of Philadelphia Foundation 
 
Date: _________________________ Date: _______________________ 
 
 

 

120


	tableofcontents6.4.15
	agenda 6.4.15
	5.7.15BoardProceedings
	5.7.15Boardminutes
	June 2015 Gifts & Grants
	May 7, 2015 Student Outcomes Committee Minutes
	Draft SOC minutes 5.7.15
	SCOC Minutes 4.2.15 2
	FY16 Budget Assumption-Rationale - Draft1
	Revenue Sources (FY16 Proposed)     (FY15 Approved)
	Budget Lines
	Individual Budget Lines
	Student Publications  (Guideline - 10%; Actual – 9.2%)
	The three student literary magazines are still being produced.  This year, the printing for Limited Editions and Cypher (developmental English magazine) was moved to off campus printer.  Savings were realized by combining printing orders onto single P...
	Campus Programming (Guideline - 15%; Actual – 11.8%)
	Performing Arts (Guideline – 5%; Actual 2.6%)
	Student Support (Guideline – 15%; Actual 15.4%)
	Student Leadership and Involvement (Guideline – 15%; Actual 21%)
	Athletics (Guideline 35%; Actual 35%)
	Contingency (Guideline - 5%; Actual – 5%)
	Child Care



	tVIII16 - Proposed Summary 7a - PDF
	Tvii16 - Proposed (1)
	summary-7a

	Construction Management Audit AAC
	Facilities Management Audits AAC
	CAD Audits AAC
	religious studies
	CAHM Audit Update (2)
	ACCT AuditUpdate Fall2014 4.27.15 (2)

	May 20, 2015 BAC
	Memorandum of Understanding
	Name and Logotype
	Institution Governance (reviewing Board of Trustees By-Laws)
	Foundation’s Relationship to the Institution
	Institution’s Relationship to the Foundation
	Foundation Responsibilities




